WIRELESS POWER MANAGEMENT CIRCUITS FOR BIOMEDICAL IMPLANTABLE SYSTEMS

Jianming ZHAO

(**B.** S., **M** .S.)

A THESIS SUBMITTED

FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

DEPARTMENT OF ELECTRICAL AND COMPUTER

ENGINEERING

NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SINGAPORE

2015

Declaration

I hereby declare that this thesis is my original work and it has been written by me in its entirety. I have duly acknowledged all the sources of information which have been used in the thesis.

This thesis has also not been submitted for any degree in any university previously.

彭建朝

Jianming ZHAO 15 Jul. 2015

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Yong Ping XU for his guidance and patience in my Ph. D study life. He not only taught me the knowledge of designing circuit but also influenced me in a silent way with his strict attitude on research and affability in life. I couldn't finish the thesis without his support.

I'd also like thank my committee members, Prof. Lian and Prof. Ha. I really appreciate their valuable advice and generosity of their time.

I'd like to thank my friends and my colleagues. They are Xuchuan, Wenfeng, Xu LIU, Rui PAN, Xiayun, Lianhong, Jerrin, Xiaohui and Lei ZOU. We spent an irreplaceable period of life together. I also thank Mr. Teo and Ms. Zheng for their technique support and thank my juniors and seniors for their help.

Finally, I would express my great gratefulness to my family and the one toward me. Thank you for your support and understanding!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEC	LARATION	I
ACH	KNOWLEDGEMENT	I
TAE	BLE OF CONTENTS	I
SUN	/MARY	III
LIS	Г OF TABLES	V
LIS	Г OF FIGURES	I
LIST	Γ OF ABBREVIATIONS	V
CHA	APTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	WIRELESS POWERING	3
1.2	CHALLENGES IN WIRELESS POWER FOR IMPLANTABLE DEVICES	6
1.3	SCOPE OF THE RESEARCH	7
1.4	RESEARCH CONTRIBUTIONS	
1.5	PUBLICATION LIST	9
1.6	THESIS ORGANIZATION	10
CHA	APTER 2 LITERATREVIEW	12
2.1	MULTIPLE OUTPUTS WIRELESS POWER MANAGEMENT	12
2.2	RECTIFIER	14
2.3	LOW DROPOUT REGULATOR	
2.4	SWITCHED INDUCTOR BASED CONVERTER	19
2.5	CHARGE PUMP	20
2.6	WIRELESS DATA LINK	
2.6.1	AMPLITUDE SHIFT KEYING (ASK)	23
2.6.2	2 LOAD SHIFT KEYING (LSK)	
2.6.3	3 FREQUENCY SHIFT KEYING (FSK)	
2.6.4	4 PHASE SHIFT KEYING (PSK)	
2.6.5	5 ULTRA WIDE BANDWIDTH (UWB)	24
CHA MA CON	APTER 3 AN INTEGRATED WIRELESS POWER NAGEMENT AND DATA TELEMETRY IC FOR HIGH- MPLIANCE-VOLTAGE ELECTRICAL STIMULATION	
APP	PLICATIONS	27
3.1	SYSTEM DESCRIPTION	
3.1.1	THE PROPOSED 2-STAGE RECTIFIER	30
3.1.2	2 LOW RIPPLE VOLTAGE MULTI-STAGE CHARGE PUMP	33
3.2	CIRCUIT IMPLEMENTATION	34

3.2.1	2-STAGE 3-OUTPUTS RECTIFIER	34
3.2.2	LOW RIPPLE HV CHARGE PUMP AND LDOS	37
3.2.3	CLOCKS AND DATA RECOVERY AND POWER MONITOR	42
3.3 N	IEASUREMENT AND DISCUSSION	45
3.3.1	RECTIFIER MEASUREMENT	47
3.3.2	CHARGE PUMP RIPPLE VOLTAGE REDUCTION	50
3.3.3	SYSTEM FUNCTION VERIFICATION	51
3.3.4	FURTHER DISCUSSION	55

CHAPTER 4 A HIGH EFFICIENCY ACTIVE RECTIFIER EMPLOYING DUAL COMPARATORS WITH DIGITALLY TUNABLE OFFSET FOR CONDUCTION TIME OPTIMIZATION ... 58

4.1 THE PROPOSED RECTIFIER WITH DYNAMIC CONDUCTION TIME ERROR	
COMPENSATION	8
4.1.1 OPERATING PRINCIPLE OF THE PROPOSED RECTIFIER	8
4.1.2 The Proposed Rectifier Architecture	52
4.2 CIRCUIT IMPLEMENTATION AND SIMULATION RESULTS	j4
4.2.1 CLOCK GENERATOR AND S/H CIRCUIT	j 4
4.2.2 LOW FREQUENCY POLARITY COMPARATOR	6
4.2.3 OFFSET TUNABLE RISE/FALL EDGE COMPARATOR	6
4.2.4 DRIVE SIGNAL GENERATOR	67
4.2.5 TUNING LOGIC CIRCUIT	68
4.2.6 SIMULATION OF THE RECTIFIER	0
4.3 MEASUREMENT RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	2
CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK	7
5.1 CONCLUSIONS	7
5.2 FUTURE WORK	8
BIBLIOGRAPHY	60

SUMMARY

In this thesis, a wireless power recovery system with data link for implantable systems and a new full-wave active rectifier with high power efficiency are described. The power recovery system is designed to provide supply for a high-compliance-voltage neural/muscle stimulator. It provides 3 DC outputs: 1.8 V, 3.3 V and 20 V for the stimulator with bidirectional data link. A 2-stage time division based rectifier is proposed to provide 3 DC outputs simultaneously, improving the power efficiency without introducing any impact on the forward data recovery. 1.8-V and 3.3-V supplies are provided by two low voltage regulators. The 20-V output is generated by a modified low ripple charge pump that reduces the ripple voltage by 40%. The power management system is fabricated in a 0.18-µm CMOS process with 24V HV LDMOS option, occupying a core area of around 3.5 mm². The power management system shows 49% peak power efficiency. The forward and backward data rates of the data telemetry are 61.5 kbps and 33.3 kbps, respectively. In addition, a power monitor circuit for closed-loop power control is integrated.

In the second part of the thesis, an active full-wave rectifier for wireless power recovery is presented. The rectifier dynamically senses the conduction time error caused by carrier voltage amplitude and frequency variation, and compensates the error by adjusting the comparator input offset through a proposed algorithm. In addition, two-comparator topology is used to generate the control signal to turn on and off one conduct transistors, respectively. In this way, conduct time is maximized and multi-conduction problem is completely eliminated. This new rectifier is able to maintain good power efficiency in a wide carrier amplitude and frequency range. Fabricated in a 0.35- μ m CMOS process, the rectifier achieves greater than 80% power efficiency with a 500 Ω load resistor from 100 kHz to 6 MHz at wide carrier amplitude with a peak efficiency of 83.4% at 2 V DC output voltage and 13.56 MHz carrier frequency. The chip occupies 0.3mm² core area.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Comparison of the energy harvesting methods	4
Table 1.2. Comparison of the energy harvesting methods	6
Table 2.1. Comparison of the charge pumps with high voltage conversion ratio 2	3
Table 2.2. Different modulation schemes in biomedical applications 2	5
Table 3.1. Stimulation required specifications 2	7
Table 3.2. System parameters 4	6
Table 3.3. Comparison with previous works 4	6
Table 4.1 Rectifier characteristics comparison table 7	6

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Paradigm of a BMI close loop system
Figure 1.2. Typical applications of FES
Figure 1.3. Functional blocks of an implantable system
Figure 2.1. Illustration of power management system architectures to generate both
high and low voltage supplies through coupling coils: (a) architecture in [36,37]. (b)
Architecture in [49] and (c) architecture in [50-52]
Figure 2.2. Diagram of a rectifier schematic and the wave forms. (a) Diode-connected
passive MOS rectifier. (b) Switch based active MOS rectifier. (c) diagram of a full-
wave rectifier and current flow paths. (d) The rectifier's conduct period, T_{cond} 15
Figure 2.3. (a) Reverse current flow path. (b) Conduct period with the same VOFS_R
and VOFS_F16
Figure 2.4. Working conditions of a rectifier with the same input offset voltage
comparator with (a) just right frequency carrier and with (b) lower frequency carrier.
Figure 2.5. Schematic of (a) series connected type LDO. (b) parallel connected type
17 Figure 2.5. Schematic of (a) series connected type LDO. (b) parallel connected type LDO
17 Figure 2.5. Schematic of (a) series connected type LDO. (b) parallel connected type LDO
17 Figure 2.5. Schematic of (a) series connected type LDO. (b) parallel connected type LDO
17 Figure 2.5. Schematic of (a) series connected type LDO. (b) parallel connected type LDO
17 Figure 2.5. Schematic of (a) series connected type LDO. (b) parallel connected type LDO
17Figure 2.5. Schematic of (a) series connected type LDO. (b) parallel connected typeLDO.18Figure 2.6. Diagram of a switched inductor based voltage converter.19Figure 2.7. Diagram of (a) Basic topology charge pump (voltage doubler). (b)Dickson topology charge pump. (c) Cross coupled topology charge pump.21Figure 3.1. Functional block diagram of the power/data recovery system.29Figure 3.2. (a) Conventional 2-stage rectifier. (b) A 2-stage 3-outputs rectifier based31on time division technique. (c) The proposed 2-stage 3-outputs rectifier and (d)31Figure 3.3. Illustration of the proposed charge pump ripple reduction method: (a)

Figure 3.4. Schematic of the 2-stage rectifier
Figure 3.5. Simulation results of the proposed rectifier: (a) waveforms of <i>VDC2</i> /
<i>VDC3</i> in the proposed rectifier and Waveform of <i>VDCT</i> in the conventional rectifier.
(b) power comparison of the proposed rectifier with the conventional one
Figure 3.6. Block diagram of the HV charge pump
Figure 3.7. Core circuit of the 20 V charge pump
Figure 3.8. (a) Charge pump output vs. Flying capacitance and (b) charge pump
output vs. clock frequency
Figure 3.9. Schematic of the current -reuse V-to-F converter
Figure 3.10. Simulation results of the charge pump 2-clocks ripple reduction
Figure 3.11. Schematic of the LDOs42
Figure 3.12.Schematic of CDR: (a) clock recovery circuit and (b) ASK data recovery
circuit
Figure 3.13 (a) Die photo of the power/data recovery module and (b) measurement
setup
Figure 3.14. Measured waveforms at inputs and outputs of the proposed 2-stage
rectifier in different modes: (a) inputs to the rectifier and (b) input $(RF1+)$ and
outputs (VDC2 and VDC3) of the rectifier
Figure 3.15. Measurement results of the proposed rectifier:
Figure 3.16. Measurement results of the 20 V charge pump: (a) without and (b) with
high frequency clock for ripple reduction50
Figure 3.17. Measurement results of (a) charge pump output ripple and (b) the power
efficiency vs load current
Figure 3.18. Measurement results of startup of the power unit and power monitor: (a)
Waveforms of the power unit startup and (b) Waveforms of the power monitor
measurement

Figure 3.19. Measurement results of the bidirectional data link: (a) forward data link,
DATA is the data recovered by CDR. (b) is the zoomed-in view of (a) and (c) is the
further zoomed-in view of (b). (d) is backward data link53
Figure 3.20. Measurement results of the closed-loop power control
Figure 3.21. (a) A stimulator die photo with the proposed power/data recovery
module and (b) the implantable stimulator device
Figure 3.22. Received wireless power vs. equivalent load
Figure 3.23. Received wireless power vs. equivalent load
Figure 4.1. Illustration of tuning the conduction time by adjusting the comparator
offset. (a) Offset tunable comparator. (b) Conduction time tuning. (c) Zoom-in view
of rise edge tuning. And (d) zoom-in view of fall edge tuning
Figure 4.2. Illustration of two-comparator working principle (a) Correct rise edge
control signal. (b) Final combined drive signal. (c) Correct fall edge control signal. 61
Figure 4.3. Block diagram of the rectifier in this paper
Figure 4.4. Schematic of (a) clock generator and (b) voltage Sampling/Holding circuit.
Figure 4.5. Schematic of the low frequency edge polarity comparator
Figure 4.6. Schematic of the rising edge comparator
Figure 4.7. (a) Schematic of the drive signal generator. (b) Time sequence of the
generator internal signals
Figure 4.8. Flow charts of the tuning logic unit for edge comparators. (a) Flow chart
of the rising edge comparator tuning logic. (b) Flow chart of the falling edge
comparator tuning logic
Figure 4.10. Pie chart of blocks power consumption in simulation71
Figure 4.9. V_{AC} waveforms of the rectifier simulation
Figure 4.11. Die photo of the fabricated rectifier

Figure 4.12. Measurement waveforms of the rectifier. (a) Carrier frequency is 100				
kHz. (b) Carrier frequency is 13.56 MHz.	73			
Figure 4.13. Measured rectifier PE performance and comparisions. (a) PE vs. car	rrier			
frequency. (b) PE vs. output V_{DC} at 13.56 MHz carrier. (c) PE vs. output V_{DC} fo	r			
different carrier frequencies, (d) PE vs. rectifier resistive load R _{load}	75			

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AC	Alternating Current
ASK	Amplitude Shift Keying
BMI	Brain Machine Interface
CDR	Clock Data Recovery
CMOS	Complementary Metal Oxide Semiconductor
DC	Direct Current
DC-DC	DC to DC converter
FES	Functional Electrical Stimulation
FSK	Frequency Shift Keying
HV	High Voltage
IC	Integrated Circuit
LDO	Low Dropout Regulator
LSK	Load Shift Keying
LV	Low Voltage
MOSFET	Metal Oxide Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor
NMOS	N-channel MOS
PE	Power Efficiency
PFM	Pulse Frequency Modulation
PMOS	P-channel MOS
POR	Power On Reset
PSK	Phase Shift Keying
RF	Radio Frequency
UWB	Ultra Wideband

Voltage Controlled Oscillator

VCO

<u>CHAPTER 1</u> INTRODUCTION

Benefited from continuous performance improvements of integrated circuits (IC), biomedical circuits and systems have found increasing number of applications in medical therapy and personal healthcare. These bioelectronic systems provide alternative ways to the traditional theraputical techniques. The low power consumption and wireless power/data link allow the system to be implanted in human body without the need for wired connection on the body. Among these applications, brain-machine interface (BMI) and function electrical stimulation (FES) have recently drawn a lot of research interests, for the prediction that the technology advance will cure some nerve-related illness.

A typical BMI, as shown in Fig. 1.1 [1], consists of neural signal recording unit, a wireless power/data link, and a signal processing system to extract



Figure 1.1. Paradigm of a BMI close loop system.

meaningful information for control of an artificial device or stimulating target nerve or muscle to recover the lost function caused by the damage in central or peripheral nerve system [2-9]. Considering non-invasive electrode scheme shows slow speed to extract meaningful signal and high sensitivity to noise interference, fully implanted invasive electrode paradigm is now treated as the most promising way to achieve aim of the BMI. To get more useful data, hundreds-channel, several years, recording paradigms are carried out. More importantly, the data are transmitted wirelessly to computer, which enables freely moving monkeys brain activity recording

FES, on the other hand, has several types of applications, including pacemaker [10,11], brain stimulation to treat neural disorders, pain [12] and Parkinson's disease and implant devices for auditory and visual function restore [13,14], peripheral neuroprostheses [15-17], as shown in Fig. 1.2.



Figure 1.2. Typical applications of FES.

Among them, pacemaker, hearing aid (cochlear) and epiretinal prostheses are commercially available, whereas the others are still at research stage. As we know, pacemaker is implanted in human body, powered by battery since it consumes little power and the battery can last more than 10 years [10], and hence it is acceptable to the patients. However, implanted battery is not acceptable in other applications, such as cochlear hearing aid implant and some neuroprotheses, where relative large power consumption is required and thus the battery needs to be replaced more frequently. In such applications, wireless power is absolutely required.

1.1 Wireless Powering

Leaving wires bare from the implanted system to outside of the body is not always acceptable because it becomes less reliable when animal moves around. More importantly, the baring wound will cause infection in a long term experiment. To supply power to the internal part without skin wound and limitation on animals' free movement, wireless powering is very crucial.

Thermal power harvest circuit, vibration mechanical power harvest circuit and telemetry link power recovery circuit have all been implemented [18,19]. Recently, ultra sonic is adopted to wirelessly supply power for dust sensors [20]. Among these methods, using RF telemetry link to power internal part is the most promising way due to its relatively higher reliability and the larger quantity of power could be transferred wirelessly. Table 1.1 summarizes the possible energy harvesting methods and the power could be supplied by these methods.

Energy Source	Harvested Power	Power Density
Thermal power	< 1 mW	μ W/cm ²
Vibration power	< 1 mW	µW/cm ²
Ultra sonic power	~ 1 mW	mW/cm ²
RF Telemetry power	1 mW - 200 mW	mW/cm ²

Table 1.1. Comparison of the energy harvesting methods

Nikola Tesla is recognized as the first one to figure out wireless power transferring, using RF power with resonating L-C tank, around 1891 [21,22]. RF wireless powering used for communication was introduced in 1960s [23,24]. Later, wireless power electrical devices was developed for various applications [25]. Until 1966, a patent aimed to provide implantable units with wireless power was granted [26].

Fig. 1.3 shows the diagram of a typical implantable device using RF wireless power and telemetry data link. It consists of internal (implanted) module and the external module. The power amplifier in the external system, usually a class-E amplifier, generates an AC power signal upon an L-C resonant tank. There is another L-C resonant tank in the internal part, has same



Figure 1.3. Functional blocks of an implantable system.

self-resonating frequency as the external L-C tank. The inductors in the two L-C tanks both are coils which have high mutual inductance. AC power generated by the external module oscillates with the internal resonant tank. In this way, power is transmitted wirelessly into the implantable part in animal body. This is referred to as "inductive coupling" [27-33]. In this thesis, it is near filed inductive coupling. Power carrier is 13.56 MHz and coils' distance is 5mm.

The received AC power is transferred to DC power by a rectifier. Thus, rectifier is an indispensable block in any of this kind of system. The power received by the internal resonant tank could be influenced by many factors, such as the geometry of the coils, distance between the two coils, coil positions and self/mutual inductances. In wireless powering, the external power amplifier could be treated as voltage source with a very large equivalent internal resistance. All the parameters mentioned could change the equivalent internal resistance, thus consequently change the power received by the internal side. As a result, output of the rectifier is not stable to drive functional blocks directly. The DC power management circuit is necessary to convert the DC voltage to certain stable value to drive data processing and record/stimulate circuits.

Wireless data link is another important function for implantable devices. Generally, the forward data link (from external to internal) is used to transfer system configuration commands to the internal part, whereas the backward data link (from internal to external) is used to transfer neural activity data to the outside for processing or analysis [34-38]. The data link functional blocks are also showed in Fig. 1.3. The clock and data recovery block in the internal

	<u> </u>		D 1			•	D
	Carrier	Forward	Backwa	Output	Power	sıze	Power
	frequency	data rate	rd data	voltage	(mW)		Efficien
		(kbps)	rate	(V)			cy (%)
			(kbps)				
[39]2005	2 MHz	57.6	NA	±3	90	4.5 x 3 x	25
Physiologi						1.2 cm^{3}	
cal							
Measurem							
ent							
[31]2008	125kHz	25-714	Non	±2.5	NA	3.2 x 1	NA
JSSC						cm ²	
Proposed	13.56	61.5	33.3	2.8/3.3/20	25	4.3 x 1.1	49
chip	MHz					cm ²	(receive
-							side)

Table 1.2. Comparison of the energy harvesting methods

module recoveries data information and clock signal for data process. The same function block in the external module is the data reader block, which extracts data signal from L-C tank and feeds signal to data process or even monitor.

Table 1.2 summarizes three implantable modules. The first module is totally integrated with discrete components [39]. It shows the biggest PCB size. In the second module, stimulator is a custom-designed chip [31]. But the power/data link circuits are off-chip. Extra diodes, regulator and protect components are needed compared to the proposed on-chip power management circuit. In addition, the totally custom-designed chip shows better flexibility in function. It supplies more outputs, supports power monitor and provides clock to logic circuit. To reduce system size and provide adequate functions, this thesis focuses on circuits design of custom-designed chip.

1.2 Challenges in Wireless Power for Implantable Devices

Before semiconductor industry advances to sub-micron technology, the implantable stimulation system only needs one voltage to supply functional blocks and stimulator electrodes [40,41]. However, this situation changes as the technology is developing into sub- and deep sub-micron range. Functional blocks, such as front-end and data processing circuits usually operate under a low voltage (LV) to minimize the power consumption, whereas high voltage (HV) compliance is usually required for the stimulator, in order to deliver sufficient current to the stimulation electrode [42,43]. Thus, multiple supply voltages are needed. To wirelessly supply multiple outputs and multiple voltages, several techniques have been proposed, such as using separate lowvoltage and high-voltage coils, multiple low dropout regulators (LDO) or high voltage charge pump (The detailed review of these techniques will be given in Chapter 2). However, the power efficiency (PE) in such a multiple outputs wireless power recovery system still needs to be improved.

Apart from different voltage supplies, different frequency power carriers are adopted in system implementations. In such systems, a rectifier is indispensable to transfer the AC power into DC power. However, previous active rectifiers are only optimized to achieve high power efficiency at certain voltage amplitude or at certain carrier frequency. To accelerate system development and handle frequency-shift-keying (FSK) modulation on power carrier, an active rectifier with high efficiency at various carriers is required

1.3 Scope of the Research

The scope of this research is to develop high efficiency power recovery circuits for implantable systems internal modules. In the thesis, a wireless power management circuits for implantable systems internal module, such as neuroprotheses, which usually include neural signal acquisition, signal processing, and high-voltage-compliance neural/muscular stimulator, etc. The system includes rectifier, band gap, LDOs, charge pump and other support blocks. In addition, wireless bidirectional data transmission is also included. In order to optimize PE, multiple DC output voltages are preferred. The focus of the research is to improve the PE of the power management circuits, while at the same time meeting other system performance requirements.

Moreover, a high power efficiency active rectifier is implemented. The rectifier maintain high efficiency in various cases, enabling data modulation on power carrier.

1.4 Research Contributions

In this thesis, a high efficiency wireless power recovery circuit is developed, aimed to provide the power for implantable record/stimulate systems. The research contributions are highlighted below:

- A 2-stage 3-output rectifier is proposed. Compared to the conventional 2stage 2-output rectifier, it can supply three different output voltages. 3 LDOs are used to stable the outputs. Working together with unbalanced L-C resonant tank, the rectifier improves the overall PE of the implantable system.
- 2. An improved multi-stage HV charge pump is proposed to supply highcompliance-voltage electrical stimulator. The charge pump is a 4-stage charge pump with 0.6 mA maximum load current. 2 different clocks are used in this charge pump to achieve high power efficiency and low output voltage ripple.
- 3. A high PE rectifier is also proposed to optimize the conduction time of the

8

active rectifier. In this rectifier, the effects of both circuit delay and comparator offset on the conduction time is automatically compensated through continuously tuning the offset of the specially designed comparators. Since the proposed tuning algorithm is not related to carrier frequency and voltage amplitude, the rectifier achieves high power efficiency in wide carrier frequency and input amplitude range.

1.5 Publication List

First authored:

- J. M. Zhao, L. Yao, R. F. Xue, P. Li, M. K. Je and Y. P. Xu, "A wireless power management and data telemetry circuit module for highcompliance-voltage electrical stimulation applications," in *IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuits Conf. Dig. Tech. Papers*, Nov. 2013, pp. 253-256.
- 2. J. M. Zhao, L. Yao, R. F. Xue, P. Li, M. K. Je and Y. P. Xu, "An integrated wireless power management and data telemetry IC for high-compliance-voltage electrical stimulation applications," accepted by TBCAS.
- 3. J. M. Zhao and Y. P. Xu, "A high efficiency active rectifier employing dual comparators with digitally tunable offset for conduction time optimization," submitted to a journal.

Co-authored:

- K. A. Ng, X. Liu, J. M. Zhao, X. C. Li, S. C. Yen, M. K. Je and Y. P. Xu, "An inductively powered CMOS multichannel bionic neural link for peripheral nerve function restoration ", in *IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuits Conf. Dig. Tech. Papers*, Nov. 2012, pp. 181-184.
- 5. L. Yao, J. M. Zhao, P. Li, X. Liu, Y. P. Xu and M. K. Je, "Implantable

stimulator for biomedical applications", in 2013 International Microwave Workshop Series on RF and Wireless Technologies for Biomedical and Healthcare Applications (IMWS-Bio 2013), pp. 1-3.

 L. Yao, J. M. Zhao, P. Li, X. Liu, R. F. Xue, Y. P. Xu and M. K. Je, "An inductively powered implantable 20-V 1.24-mA stimulator IC with input power monitoring, active charge balancing and electrode impedance check," accepted by ASSCC 2014.

1.6 Thesis Organization

The thesis consists of five chapters. Chapter 2 describes the basic concepts of the building blocks of the power management system, including rectifier, LDO, charge pump and DC-DC converter. At the same time, literature reviews of these circuits are presented.

Chapter 3 presents a wireless power recovery system with bidirectional data link for high-compliance-voltage neural/muscle stimulator. The power recovery circuit includes a 2-stage rectifier, 2 LDOs and a high voltage charge pump to provide 3 DC outputs: 1.8 V, 3.3 V and 20 V, respectively. A 2-stage time division based rectifier is proposed to provide 3 DC outputs simultaneously. It improves the power efficiency without introducing any impact on the forward data recovery.

Chapter 4 presents an active full-wave rectifier for wireless power recovery. Digital controlled offset tuneable comparator is proposed to compensate the circuit delay and offset voltage due to carrier voltage amplitude and frequency variation. In addition, two-comparator topology is utilized to generate the control signal for rectifier switches. This new rectifier maintains high power efficiency with a wide carriers' amplitude and frequency range.

Chapter 5 concludes the thesis and discusses the future work.

<u>CHAPTER 2</u> LITERATREVIEW

Multiple outputs wireless power management system and DC-DC voltage converter circuits will be introduced and reviewed in this chapter.

2.1 Multiple outputs Wireless Power Management

There are several ways to generate multiple outputs voltages in wireless power management circuit. Using multiple LDOs on chip to supply multiple outputs voltages from one input voltage is the most straightforward way [44-46]. In these designs, an identical high voltage source is used to successfully supply all LDOs to generate multiple outputs. However, this is not an efficient way to generate multiple outputs spread over wide voltage range since the LDOs supplying the lower voltages suffer from low PE. In another work, a dual voltage scheme with two separate half wave rectifiers to simultaneously generate a positive and a negative output with same voltage amplitude for a high voltage stimulation is proposed [47,48]. However, the low voltage output is missing.

In order to supply LV and HV simultaneously, several wireless multivoltage power modules have been reported for high-voltage-compliance stimulator. In general, they can be divided into two categories. In the first category, as shown in Fig. 2.1(a), the secondary coil supplies HV to the power management circuits [36,37]. Thus the HV output can be obtained via a HV rectifier and a LDO regulator. The LV output can be derived from either an additional coil or from LV tap in the secondary coil. In this case, the power efficiencies of HV and LV circuits cannot be simultaneously optimized since



(c)

Figure 2.1. Illustration of power management system architectures to generate both high and low voltage supplies through coupling coils: (a) architecture in [36,37]. (b) Architecture in [49] and (c) architecture in [50-52].

the required amounts of power on HV and LV circuits are not proportional, but the configuration of coil is fixed after implantation. To overcome this problem a step-down charge pump can be used to supply LV output [49], as shown in Fig. 2.1(b). HV rectifier, though simple, shows low reliability under heavy load current [49]. In the second category, the secondary coil only provides LV output. Thus, the LV output can be easily obtained through a LV rectifier and a LDO regulator, while the HV output needs a step-up DC-DC converter, as shown in Fig. 2.1(c) [50-52].

Depending on the distance of the coupling coils and the loading conditions, the voltage from the secondary coil (internal coil) may fluctuate in a wide range, and cause circuit failure. A clamp circuit is usually required to protect the power management circuit when the voltage goes excessively high. It provides a leakage path whenever the coil voltage exceeds a prescribed level. The clamp circuit consumes large energy when activated and reduces the PE significantly. To avoid this, a closed-loop power control is included to control the power in the external module and transmit just right amount of energy to internal module [53]. However, for wireless high-compliance-voltage stimulator with multi-supplies, the clamp current problem and high PE techniques haven't been well addressed yet.

2.2 Rectifier

External power amplifier transfers DC power into AC power which is transmitted wirelessly through the inductive link to internal implantable part. Rectifier converts the AC power back into DC.

In CMOS technology, MOS switches are used in place of diodes in the classic rectifier. Based on whether switches are controlled, rectifier can be categorized into passive and active rectifier. Fig. 2.2(a) and 2.2(b) show the concept of passive [54-57] and active rectifiers, respectively, in which



Figure 2.2. Diagram of a rectifier schematic and the wave forms. (a) Diodeconnected passive MOS rectifier. (b) Switch based active MOS rectifier. (c) diagram of a full-wave rectifier and current flow paths. (d) The rectifier's conduct period, T_{cond} .

MOSFETs are used to implement the diode in Fig. 2.2(c). To reduce V_{th} voltage drop in passive rectifier, active rectifier are proposed to achieve high PE [58-60]. In the active rectifier, comparators are used to turn on and off of the bottom two "diodes", which reduces the forward voltage drop to $2V_{DS}$, much less than the diode forward voltage drop of 0.7V. In an ideal rectifier, the correct current flows and conduction periods are shown in Fig. 2.2(d).

For active rectifier, in order to achieve high PE, comparator needs to generate just right drive signals to maximize the possible conduct time of the rectifier without causing reverse current. However, the circuit delay and



Figure 2.3. (a) Reverse current flow path. (b) Conduct period with the same VOFS_R and VOFS_F.

comparator offset may lead to incorrect conduction of the transistors [61,62], and reverse current, as shown in Fig. 2.3(a) and Fig. 2.3(b). V_{OFS_R} and V_{OFS_F} are input offset voltages of turn on and turn off signal that conduct transistors needed. T_{dealy} is the delay from comparator output to real drive signal of conduct transistors and it's a function of V_{DC}. During the time marked by shaded box, reverse current flows, which can severely deteriorates PE. To mitigate this problem, unbalanced-biased comparator has been proposed to prevent reverse current at a carrier frequency of 1.5 MHz [61]. To achieve high PE at higher carrier frequency, say, up to 13.56 MHz, comparator with dynamic offset adjustment [63-67] and cross-coupled latch comparator [62] are proposed to speed up the comparator. Dynamic offset adjusting comparator uses local positive feedback loop to set different on and off offset voltages (as shown in Fig. 2.4(a)) and fast turn-off signal. But this technique may cause multi-conduction of the conduct transistor due to its local positive feedback in the comparator [68-70]. Cross-coupled latch comparator technique adds another assisted comparator to speed up the main comparator. Apart from modifying the comparator design, adjusting signal delay to avoid the reverse



Figure 2.4. Working conditions of a rectifier with the same input offset voltage comparator with (a) just right frequency carrier and with (b) lower frequency carrier.

current is also proposed [36]. However, reverse current cannot be totally avoided in a wide input voltage amplitude range by above mentioned techniques, since the circuit delay varies with carrier amplitudes and is very difficult to be accurately controlled. To deal with the wide input amplitude problem, dynamic biasing comparator technique [68] is proposed to compensate the varying circuit delay using carefully designed bias current for the comparator. However, multi-conduction is not absolutely eliminated since local positive feedback is still used.

On the other hand, for possible frequency-shift-keying (FSK) data modulation on power carrier [71], a rectifier whose PE is optimized for wide carrier frequency range and different input amplitudes is very desirable. For example, the frequency of V_{AC1} in Fig. 2.4(a) is just four times of the frequency of V_{AC1} in Fig. 2.4(b) and comparator offset voltages are same. But PE of the rectifier in Fig. 2.4(b) is much lower due to reverse current. All above mentioned rectifiers only optimize the PE for at a fixed carrier frequency.



Figure 2.5. Schematic of (a) series connected type LDO. (b) parallel connected type LDO.

2.3 Low Dropout Regulator

LDO regulator is the most widely used voltage converter to supply constant voltage for its simplicity and good transient response performance.

LDO regulator includes a power transistor (M_1), a resistor voltage divider (R_1 and R_2), an error amplifier (Error AMP) and a voltage reference, as shown in Fig. 2.5. LDO can be categorized into two topologies, serial-connected (Fig. 2.5(a)) and parallel-connected topologies (Fig. 2.5(b)). The resistor divider samples the output voltage and feedback it to the error amplifier which compares the feedback voltage with a reference voltage. The extra power exceeds necessary is dissipated on the power transistor as drop voltage in serial-connected LDO or leakage current in parallel-connected LDO.

Recently, output-capacitor-less LDO has been reported. It has the advantages of less pin count, smaller PCB area, and no parasitical effects of equivalent inductance/resistance from wire-bond [72]. Another research direction in LDO is the digital LDO, in which the analog feedback loop is substituted by a digital controller. Digital LDO can operate under a very low
supply voltage since the core control circuit is digital circuit [73-75]. For wireless powered systems, it is very crucial to have high PRSS to reject the noise from the input. In [76], an output-capacitor-less LDO achieves the PSRR of -20 dB in a very wide range from 1 kHz to 11 GHz. With a ~100 mV output ripple rectifier, this design could satisfy most of the implantable systems' requirement.

The PE of the LDO is limited by the ratio of V_{out} and V_{in} . When V_{in} is much higher than V_{out} , a LDO's PE is low and it deteriorates the PE of the entire power management circuit. In multiple outputs wireless power management system, as far as the PE is concerned, it is not desirable to supply different output voltages by just using several LDOs.

2.4 Switched inductor based converter

Switched inductor based power converter (normally referred as DC-DC) shows the highest PE in all voltage converters, generally. It consists of an inductor (L), several conduct power transistors ($M_1 - M_4$) and feedback control unit, as shown in Fig. 2.6. The conduct transistors are connected to the two ports of the inductor and turn on/off in certain sequence. By carefully



Figure 2.6. Diagram of a switched inductor based voltage converter.

designing the conduct transistors' driving clock sequence, the switched inductor converter can achieve buck, boost and buck/boost voltage conversion.

Recently, the research related to the switched inductor power converter mainly focuses on control method and single input with multiple outputs [77 - 84]. For high voltage DC-DC, the designers used synchronous rectification methodology, current estimate and totally digital circuit to control the boost converter with voltage conversion ratio larger than 20 [85].

Switched inductor based converter is rarely used in wireless power management. The reason could be because the inductor in converter could interfere power transmission between the coupling coils, as well as the data link, and generate too much electromagnetic field in animal body.

2.5 Charge pump

Charge pump is another type of voltage converter. Charged capacitor is utilized to pump up/down V_{in} to perform voltage conversion.

Dickson charge pump is the most original and widely used topology in designs. Fig. 2.7 shows the diagrams of a basic (a), Dickson (b) [86] and a cross coupled [87] charge pump (c), respectively. The charge pump includes the flying/load capacitors and the power transistors. The flying capacitors ($C_1 - C_3$) store the electrical energy from the input source in one clock phase and release the energy to the output in another phase. The load capacitor (C_L) stabilizes the output during the period when the flying capacitors is disconnected from the output. The power transistors ($M_1 - M_4$) are located at the two ports of the flying transistors to control the flying capacitors.

In 1992, the charge pump controlled by MOS switches was introduced in

20



(a)



(b)



Figure 2.7. Diagram of (a) Basic topology charge pump (voltage doubler). (b) Dickson topology charge pump. (c) Cross coupled topology charge pump.

[88]. The cross coupled charge pump was reported to eliminate voltage drop

on diode connected power transistors, V_{th} , in Dickson topology [87]. Bidirectional power flow charge pump [89] and programmable multi-mode charge pump [90] were also proposed. Reconfigurable charge pump has since become popular since charge pump PE is enhanced when V_{in} significantly fluctuate.

To improve PE, dynamic dead-time control to reduce the shoot-through current, and the shared-charge recycling technique are developed to enhance PE of charge pump [91,92]. In HV compliance stimulator, to boost the input voltage of 5V to around 20 V, HV multi-stage charge pump is required. Suppose there are two charge pumps, a LV charge pump converts 1.5V to 6 V and another HV charge pump converts 5V to 20 V. Let the other parameters are same, high voltage design consumes 11 times more power than low voltage on parasitic capacitors. When the charge pump has several stages, the whole power efficiency is product of every stage efficiency, which is also harmful for power efficiency. However, no effective technique has been introduced to achieve high PE in HV multi-stage charge pump implementation. Table 2.1 shows electrical characteristics summary of previous work to supply very high voltage with low input voltage.

The output of the charge pump usually contains ripple, resulted in from the switching of the capacitors. Some ripple voltage reduction techniques have been reported [98-100]. Controlling the voltage drop of power transistor not only regulates output voltage but also reduces output ripple voltage [98]. However, it shows lower PE in light load than that in pulse frequency modulation (PFM) technique since its clock frequency is fixed. The interleaving regulation with multi-phase clocks [99] reduces the ripple, but

Paper	PE (%)	Input (V)	Output (V)	Stage	Fly. Cap	Max.	Frequency	Technique
[93]	91(SOI)	3.3	27	9	18	40 uA	4 MHz	0.35 µ m SOI CMOS
[94]	NA	2.5	28.08	12	12	NA	1 MHz	0.25 µ m CMOS
[95]	NA	3	>15	3	4	2 mA	0.5 MHz	HV CMOS
[96]	NA	2	6.5/ -6	2/2	4/4	300 uA	100 MHz	0.8 µ m CMOS
[97]	NA	3.3	9/ -9	2/3	10	160 uA	36 MHz	0.18 µ m CMOS

Table 2.1. Comparison of the charge pumps with high voltage conversion ratio

needs a dual power stage, which increases the circuit complexity and number of capacitors. Dynamically changing the size of the charge pump driver together with PFM in [100] can reduce the ripple, but results in higher clock frequency and degrades the PE.

2.6 Wireless Data Link

Wireless data link is another important function for implantable biosystems. Low power consumption, high reliability, wide bandwidth, small size and light weight are the key points that need to be considered. Below some data modulation schemes used for bio-medical systems will be reviewed.

2.6.1 Amplitude Shift Keying (ASK)

ASK is widely used in biomedical systems for its design simplicity [101,102]. In ASK modulation, the amplitude of the carrier is modulated by ASK modulator and the demodulator recovers the serial data by comparing the amplitudes of the carrier envelops. The disadvantage of ASK modulation is its sensitivity to the carrier amplitude. In practice, body movement or other factors may influence the carrier amplitude, which leads to malfunction of the ASK data link.

2.6.2 Load Shift Keying (LSK)

LSK modulation is almost the same with ASK. The only difference is the way the amplitude is modulated. LSK refers to the backward data modulation scheme through suddenly change the internal load to modulating the carrier [64,103]. Besides of the same drawback as ASK, LSK doesn't work when the two power transferring coils are loosely coupled. In this situation, the load shift at the internal side can no longer induce voltage fluctuation on the external coil.

2.6.3 Frequency Shift Keying (FSK)

Compared to ASK, FSK is more reliable since the carrier frequency won't be influenced easily as carrier amplitude. The carrier frequency will shift from one frequency to the other during FSK modulation [104,105]. The disadvantage of the FSK modulation is that the wireless power transfer efficiency is reduced due to resonator tank's low Q at two different frequencies.

2.6.4 Phase Shift Keying (PSK)

PSK modulates the carrier by shifting carrier's initial phases. The drawback of PSK is the complex demodulator circuit to correctly recover the phase information, and its power consumption is usually higher than ASK and FSK [37].

2.6.5 Ultra Wide Bandwidth (UWB)

UWB is recently used in biomedical systems for its high data rata and low

power consumption. A serial of non-continuous pulses are generated to denote "1" or "0". The challenged of USB circuit design is its antenna miniaturization and high PE pulse generator. In [106], a 2 MHz data link is implemented by using optical data link. Its work principle is similar to UWB modulation. This method is effective in Retinal Prosthetic devices but may not be suitable for the internal system that is deeply implanted in body.

Each modulation scheme has its advantages and disadvantages. Table 2.2 summarizes their key performance parameters. The transmission distances are not applicable for the references. In these examples, UWB shows the best performance compared to the other modulation method. A practical way to design a good wireless data link is to choose the right modulation according to the application. For example, the forward and backward data links definitely

Voor	Dowor	Carrier	Data	Modulation	Power/bit	Applications
I Cal	rowei	Freq	rate	Wiodulation		Applications
2000		1 10	25-		NA	Potinal
2000 [101]	NA	1-10 MU7	250	ASK		Prosthatia
[101]		MILL	kbps			FIOSUIEUC
2008	0.3	$2 MH_{\pi}$	1	ASV	300pJ/b	Biomedical
[102]	mW		Mbps	ASK		app
2008	ΝA	500	16	ISV	NA	Biomedical
[103]	INA	kHz	kbps	LSK		app
2011	ΝA	13.56	500	ISV	NA	Inductively
[64]	INA	MHz	kbps	LSK		link
2004	~0.4	5/10	2.5	ESK	160pJ/b	Biomedical
[104]	mW	MHz	Mbps	ГЭК		app
2013	ΝA	3.2/3.8 48		ESK	NA	Noural Sonsing
[105]	INA	GHz	Mbps	TOK		Incurat Sensing
2010	ΝA	22	2	DSV	NA	Retinal
[37]	MHz Mbps		LOV		Prosthetic	
2009	1.6	163	90	IWD	18pJ/b	Neural
[36]	mW	MHz	Mbps	UWD		Recording
2012	0.3	.3		Dhotodioda	150pJ/b	Retinal
[106]	mW	INA	Mbps	Filotodiode		Prosthetic

 Table 2.2. Different modulation schemes in biomedical applications

have different requirements. Combining two or more modulations together is a way to achieve good performance. In this thesis, ASK and LSK are adopted for simple circuit implementation.

<u>CHAPTER 3</u> AN INTEGRATED WIRELESS POWER MANAGEMENT AND DATA TELEMETRY IC FOR HIGH-COMPLIANCE-VOLTAGE ELECTRICAL STIMULATION APPLICATIONS

In this chapter, a power management chip with data telemetry for neural/muscle stimulation is described. Table 3,1 summarizes the key parameters of a muscle/nerve stimulator Three voltage supplies are required, 1.8V, 3.3V and 20V with maximum load current of 200µA, 200µA and 1mA, respectively. Recovery time means the 20V output can drop to certain value when stimulating with large current, but it should rise to normal value in certain time after one stimulating.

A LV 2-stage rectifier is proposed to generate three DC outputs for a 1.8V LDO, 3.3V LDO and a 20-V charge pump to enhance power efficiency

	Parameter	Value	Unit	Remarks
	clock frequency	13.56	MHz	ASK
	modulation	30	kbps	ASK forward,
Dowor/data	modulation			LSK backword
Fower/uata	20V load current	1	mA	
IIIK	3.3V load current	200	μA	
	1.8V load current	200	μA	
	Standby ripple	0.2	V	
	Recovery time	0.5	ms	

Table 3.1. Stimulation required specifications

without compromising the performance of the data link. The two LV supplies are directly obtained through the two LDOs, respectively, and the HV supply is generated by the step-up 20-V charge pump. A low ripple voltage step-up HV charge pump based on the PFM technique is proposed to reduce the output ripple and achieves high power efficiency [107]. A wireless bidirectional data telemetry is also implemented on chip. With a power monitor circuit, the power system is able to transfer power status data from the internal module backward to the external module to support the wireless closed-loop control of the power transmitted from the external module to the internal module.

The rest of the chapter is organized as follows. Section 3.1 describes the system architecture, as well as the 2-stage rectifier and the low ripple step-up charge pump. Section 3.2, section is circuit implementations. Section 3.3 presents the measurement results and discussion.

3.1 System Description

Fig. 3.1 shows the functional block diagram of the power/data recovery IC and its targeted application is to high-compliance-voltage neural/muscular stimulator. Three output voltages are 1.8 V for digital control circuit, 3.3 V for analog circuit and 20 V for HV-compliance output stage of the stimulator. A wireless bidirectional data link is also included on chip.

A 13.56 MHz power carrier is chosen for both power and data telemetry. A LV L-C resonator tank on the secondary side receives the transmitted power. A 2-stage rectifier generates three LV DC voltage sources. A capacitor, C_{DC} is inserted between the L-C tank and RF1- for DC voltage shifting. The 1st stage rectifier generates the lowest voltage, which is regulated by a LDO to obtain



Figure 3.1. Functional block diagram of the power/data recovery system.

1.8 V. The 2^{nd} rectifier stage can be configured into either a full-wave rectifier or two half-wave rectifiers through two switches and generates two slightly different voltages: 3.6 and 4.6 V for the 3.3-V LDO and the charge pump in a time-division fashion. A feedback control circuit controls the time-division or the working mode of the 2^{nd} rectifier stage. The detailed operation principle of the proposed 2-stage rectifier will be described in section 3.1.1. For wireless data telemetry, CDR circuit is connected to RF1+ and RF1for clock and data recovery. The clock signal is directly recovered from the 13.56 MHz carrier, RF1+. The ASK forward data signal is extracted by an envelope detector. A LSK modulator for backward data telemetry takes feedback data, such as that from simulator, and modulates the loading on RF1+ and RF1- [108,109]. A data reader at the external module can recover the backward data.

3.1.1 The proposed 2-stage rectifier

In this design, the minimum input voltage for 1.8-V and 3.3-V LDOs are 2.1 V and 3.6 V, respectively. For the step-up charge pump, a highest possible input voltage is preferred to reduce the number of charge pump stages. However, the gate-source break down voltage of the HV transistor is 6 V for the chosen CMOS process. Thus, the desired input voltage range for the charge pump is $4.2 \sim 5$ V after leaving a safe margin for HV transistors in the charge pump. Based on aforementioned considerations, a 2-stage rectifier could be used to generate all three output voltages, as shown in Fig. 3.2(a). The 1st stage provides the supply for 1.8-V LDO and it should be higher than 2.1 V whereas the 2^{nd} stage should be higher than 4.2 V for the charge pump. The 3.3 V can be derived from 4.2 V output with a LDO. However, by doing so, it would incur extra power consumption in the LDO, which reduces its power efficiency. In this work, a 2-stage rectifier is proposed to supply three different voltages, e.g. 2.3 V, 3.6 V and 4.6 V, where 3.6 and 4.6 V, in a time-division manner. In such an arrangement, the 3.3-V LDO is able to maintain



Figure 3.2. (a) Conventional 2-stage rectifier. (b) A 2-stage 3-outputs rectifier based on time division technique. (c) The proposed 2-stage 3-outputs rectifier and (d) waveforms of the proposed rectifier.

good power efficiency.

Fig. 3.2(b) shows a possible rectifier implementation based on the timedivision, in which the 2nd stage rectifier supplies two outputs through switches S1 and S2. One problem with such an arrangement is that the ASK/LSK data will be corrupted by the resonating amplitude change caused by the switching between VDC2 and VDC3. Another drawback is that when the second stage switches between VDC2 and VDC3, it causes the 1st stage rectifier output to jump between VDC2/2 and VDC3/2. Fig. 3.2(c) shows the proposed 2-stage rectifier that can overcome the above mentioned two problems. In the proposed 2-stage rectifier, a DC shifting capacitor C_{DC} is inserted between the resonator tank and the 1st stage rectifier to make the L-C tank resonating normally. The 2nd stage is divided into two half-wave rectifiers to supply two different voltages, simultaneously. The rectifier works in 2 modes. When VDC2 is larger than 3.8 V, the rectifier switched to mode I (S1 is open and S2 is closed). The 2nd stage rectifier now works as a normal full wave rectifier to supply VDC3, charge C_{L3} . When VDC2 is lower than 3.6 V, it switches to mode II (S1 is closed and S2 is open). The 2nd stage rectifier works as two half-wave rectifiers to supply VDC2 and VDC3, respectively. Thus, VDC2 is maintained between 3.6 V and 3.8 V, the rest of the energy is stored on the load capacitors at VDC1 and VDC3. Fig. 3.2(d) shows the waveforms in both mode I and II for the proposed 2-stage rectifier. The rectifier is same as the conventional 2-stage rectifier in mode I. In mode II, the AC amplitudes of RF1 + and RS- are different. But the resonating amplitude, |(RF1+) - (RS-)| is constant, referred to as "unbalance resonating", that is, RF1+ and RF1- have different peak voltages, but the same bottom voltage. The same applies to RF2+ and RF2-. Furthermore, unlike the rectifier in Fig. 3.2(b), ASK signal on the 13.56 MHz power carrier is not affected in the proposed 2-stage rectifier.

3.1.2 Low ripple voltage multi-stage charge pump

The step-up charge pump is chosen as it can be fully integrated on-chip and has better transient response than the inductor based DC-DC converters. Since the stimulator is not always firing, charge pump is in light load most of the time. PFM is well suited for such applications [110]. The power loss of the charge pump can be expressed as

$$P_{loss} = f_{clk}C_{par}V_{sw}^2 + N_{sta}R_{on}I_{load}^2 \tag{1}$$

where f_{clk} is the switching clock frequency, C_{par} is the capacitance of the parasitical capacitor, V_{sw} is the voltage swing of the switches, N_{sta} is the stage number, R_{on} is the switch on-resistance and I_{load} is the load current. For a multi-stage HV charge pump, lowering the clock frequency can enhance the charge pump power efficiency. However, low clock frequency results in large ripple at the output.

Some ripple voltage reduction techniques have been reported [98-100]. In this work, we propose a simple ripple reduction scheme where the last transistor in the output stage of the charge pump is controlled by a high frequency clock. This scheme can reduce the ripple voltage without significant impact on the power efficiency of the charge pump. Fig. 3.3(a) shows the conventional PFM control scheme. Charge pump transfers large amount of power in every clock phase at a low clock frequency for high power efficiency, resulting in a large ripple. Fig. 3.3(b) shows the proposed low ripple control method. A higher frequency clock is used only for the last transistor in the



Figure 3.3. Illustration of the proposed charge pump ripple reduction method: (a) conventional single clock and (b) the proposed 2-clocks work principle.

output stage, M_{out} . This allows the charge to be delivered more accurately and smooth the voltage ripple at the output. The implementation of the high-frequency clock is based on the current re-use, which will be explained in section 3.2.2. It works well with the PFM control scheme and will be discussed in the next section.

3.2 Circuit Implementation

3.2.1 2-stage 3-outputs rectifier

The RF power received through the L-C tank is rectified by the 2-stage rectifier with dynamic body bias, as shown in Fig. 3.4. In the 1st stage of the rectifier, M_{p1} and R_{p1} provide bias voltages to reduce the forward conduction voltage V_{ds} of M_{r1} and thus improve the power efficiency [111]. The resultant increase of reverse current and quiescent power consumption on M_{p1} and R_{p1} (2.5 M Ω) can be limited to a small amount by carefully selecting design parameters.



Figure 3.4. Schematic of the 2-stage rectifier.

The designed range of *VDC1* is 2.1-2.5 V. The same bias circuit is implemented for the 2^{nd} stage rectifier which is divided into two independent half-wave rectifiers. S1 and S2 are two PMOS switches to connect *VDCp* to either *VDC2* or *VDC3*. They are controlled by a hysteresis comparator and a level shifter which directly drives S1 and S2. Cross-coupled PMOS pairs are used to supply higher voltage to bulk of S1 and S2 to eliminate latch-up. The range of *VDC2* is 3.6-3.8 V while the range of *VDC3* is 4.2-5 V. S1 is closed and S2 is opened when *VDC2* is discharged to 3.6 V. After *VDC2* reaches 3.8 V, S2 is close and S1 is open, the two half-wave rectifiers join together to charge *VDC3*.

Fig. 3.5 shows the simulation results of the proposed rectifier, compared with a conventional one. The 1.8-V LDO and 3.3-V LDO both have 360 μ A current load. *VDC3* is connected to an 800 μ A current source to mimic the charge pump current consumption driving 100 μ A load. The conventional rectifier in Fig. 3.2(a) with the same load conditions is used for comparison. Fig. 3.5(a) shows the simulated input and output waveforms of the proposed



Figure 3.5. Simulation results of the proposed rectifier: (a) waveforms of VDC2/VDC3 in the proposed rectifier and Waveform of VDCT in the conventional rectifier. (b) power comparison of the proposed rectifier with the conventional one. AC_CON and AC_PRO are power wirelessly received by conventional and the proposed rectifier, respectively. VDC3, VDC2 and VDC1 are the DC power consumed on VDC3, VDC2 and VDC1 (for the conventional rectifier the 2nd stage DC power is VDC3+VDC2).

rectifier in both operation modes, where *VDCT* is the output of conventional 2-stage rectifier. *VDC3* gradually becoming higher than *VDCT* indicates that

under the same current loads, more power is stored on capacitor, C_{L3} , which is desirable, while *VDC2* is maintained between 3.5V and 3.8V. Fig. 3.5(b) shows that there is a power saving in the *VDC2* 3.3-V LDO in the proposed rectifier, which results in 6.3% improvement in power efficiency (*DC_CON/AC_CON*) of the whole system. In the zoomed-in view of *RF1*+ in Fig.3.5(a), the transition between mode I and mode II causes very tiny change on *RF1*+. This means that the mode change does not have any impact on ASK signal.

3.2.2 Low Ripple HV Charge Pump and LDOs

A step-up charge pump is used to boost the output of the rectifier (*VDC3*) to 20 V. Fig. 3.6 shows the complete block diagram of the PFM controlled HV step-up charge pump. It consists of core circuit of charge pump, a current reuse V-to-F converter, clock generation circuit and LV/HV drivers.



Figure 3.6. Block diagram of the HV charge pump.

The core circuit is a 4-stage charge pump, as shown in Fig. 3.7. The 24-V LDMOS process supplies 24V asymmetric NMOS and PMOS. The transistors' V_{DS} and V_{GD} can sustain 24 V, but transistors' V_{GS} break down voltage is only 6 V. Except of the LV driver in broken line box in figure 3.7, all the other transistors are all 24V LDMOS. In this charge pump all transistors V_{DS} is equal or smaller than Vin (<5V) and transistors gate voltage is connected to drain or source in different clock phases. In this way, transistors are protected from break down.

The 4th stage of the charge pump employs cross-coupled structure to reduce the voltage ripple at the 20V output. In charge mode, ϕ is "0", C_{F1}, C_{F2}, C_{F3} and C_{F4a} are charged by their preceding stages. C_{F4b} discharges to C_L at the output. Voltages at S1, S2 and S3 nodes decrease and the output is maintained by V_{S3} + VC_{F4b}. In discharge mode, ϕ is "1", C_{F1}, C_{F2}, C_{F3} and C_{F4a} are discharged and C_{F4b} is charged by S3. Voltage at S1, S2 and VS3 increase and



Figure 3.7. Core circuit of the 20 V charge pump.

output voltage is supplied by $V_{S3} + VC_{F4a}$. V_{S3} is the voltage of S3. VC_{F4a} and VC_{F4b} are the voltages on capacitors C_{F4a} and C_{F4b} , respectively.

Fig. 3.8 shows charge pump output vs. flying capacitance and output vs. clock frequency. The charge pump has been optimized to 1 μ F flying capacitor and 5 kHz frequency. Too high clock frequency needs very large area for the switches. The reasonable transistor size leads to tens of kilo hertz clock frequency. For even higher power efficiency, the several kilo hertz clock frequency is chosen and the flying/loading capacitors are calculated by C=I_{load}/ $\Delta Vf (\Delta V=200 \text{mV})$.



Figure 3.8. (a) Charge pump output vs. Flying capacitance and (b) charge pump output vs. clock frequency.



Figure 3.9. Schematic of the current -reuse V-to-F converter.

The PFM control circuit includes a voltage sensing circuit consisting R_{HV1} and R_{HV2} , the proposed current re-use V-to-F converter, clock generation circuit and LV/HV drivers. The current reuse V-to-F converter performs error comparison and converts the voltage error to frequency through a differential VCO pair. Fig. 3.9 shows the detailed schematic of the V-to-F converter. It is modified from [112] with current re-use technique. A differential pair (M_{II} and M_{I2}) drives four ring oscillators with two on each side. Since both sides are symmetrical, only one side is shown in Fig. 3.9. OSC_1L is a 7-stage ring oscillator whereas OSC_1H is a 3-stage ring oscillator. Two ring oscillators are connected in serial and re-use the same current. This not only saves the power, but also makes the two oscillators track each other. OSC_1L and OSC_1H outputs swing from 2.1 to 3.3 V and 1.2 to 2.1 V, respectively. The oscillating signals need to be shifted to full logic scale of 0 to 3.3 V, thus level shifters are needed. OSC_1L is directly shifted to the full logic scale, OSC_1H is shifted to 0-to-2.1V first and then 0-to-3.3V through two level shifters, as shown in Fig. 3.9. The level shifter chain must be carefully designed to prevent it from self-oscillating. The startup of the V-to-F converter is controlled by signal ST which is enabled after 1.8-V LDO and 3.3-V LDO successfully start up.

The clock generation circuit monitors the frequencies of these four oscillators (f_{L1} , f_{H1} , f_{L2} and f_{H2}) and generates two clock signals (*CLKL* and *CLKH*) to control the 20 V charge pump through LV/HV drivers. *CLKL* determines the entire charge pump clock phase shifting and *CLKH* controls the switches in the output stage and reduces the output ripple. The frequency of *CLKL* is designed to be low (< 10 kHz) to avoid significant switching power consumption on parasitic capacitance. The frequency of *CLKH* is set to be around $6 \times CLKL$, above which the ripple reduction shows little further improvement. The LV/HV switch drivers are designed to have low current dissipation and sharp clock edge. Protect circuit is also included in the high voltage charge pump [113].

Fig. 3.10 shows the simulation results of the charge pump with/without the high-frequency clock, *CLKH*. When *CLKH* is activated, the ripple voltage at 20-V output is reduced by more than one half compared with that uses only low frequency clock *CLKL*. In simulation, input voltage is 4.6 V and load current is 500 μ A.



Figure 3.10. Simulation results of the charge pump 2-clocks ripple reduction..

Two LDOs are powered by *VDC1* and *VDC2*, and generate 1.8 and 3.3 V, respectively. The schematic of LDOs is shown in Fig. 3.11. The same structure is utilized for both LDOs.

3.2.3 Clocks and Data Recovery and Power Monitor



Figure 3.11. Schematic of the LDOs



Figure 3.12.Schematic of CDR: (a) clock recovery circuit and (b) ASK data recovery circuit.

The clock recovery circuit is based on a smith trigger inverter, as shown in Fig. 3.12(a) [114]. RF1+ is fed into the circuit through a capacitor. The data recovery circuit is shown in Fig. 3.12(b). The forward ASK modulated RF carrier signals, RF1+ and RF1-, are connected to a PMOS transistor, M_D, acting as a detector. A passive low pass filter consisting of R_A and C_A is used to extract the data envelope from the detector output. Another passive low

pass filter with lower cut-off frequency is used to extract the average voltage of the envelope. The data is recovered through a comparator and a buffer by comparing the envelope at A with average voltage of the envelope at B. A feedback resistor R_F is used to introduce a small hysteresis voltage (+30mV) between A and B to increase the robustness of the data recovery circuit. The correct standby state of DATA should be '0'. However, there is a risk to form a false latch through R_F where the voltage between A and B is -30mV, causing DATA to be '1' in standby state. To prevent the false standby state, a watchdog circuit is implemented to avoid the false latch. When the comparator works in normal condition, the output of the comparator won't stay in high condition for a long time, the voltage on C_R is 0 for M_T discharge. If the comparator locks in wrong state, the output will always be high. The voltage on C_R will be charged slowly by M_L . When the voltage exceeds V_{thn} , NMOS M_F will turn on and the comparator positive input voltage becomes smaller. In this way, the comparator comes back into normal condition. Then the output goes to low, C_R is discharged again, turns off M_F. The watch dog circuit is shut down.

The LSK modulator is a set of switches, which short RF1+ and RF1- with different resistors thus change the loading of the L-C tank. The modulation depth can be adjusted based on the trade-off between the power requirement and the demodulation of the data reader at the external side.

Power monitor circuit consists of two comparators powered by 1.8 V. It monitors the voltages of *VDC1* and *VDC3*. A 2-bit output digital signal p < 0:1> indicates three states: "00" for under-powered or start up, "01" for proper-powered and "11" for over-powered.

3.3 Measurement and Discussion

The wireless power management and bidirectional data telemetry circuit was fabricated in a 0.18- μ m CMOS technology with 24V LDMOS option. Fig. 3.13(a) shows the microphotograph of the chip. Fig. 3.13(b) shows the measurement setup for the functional verification of the wireless power management. RF1+ and RS- are connected to the secondary coil. The external primary coil is driven by a class-E power amplifier whose supply voltage is controlled by FPGA. The space between the two coils is 5 mm and the detailed information can be found in table 3.2. The load currents for 1.8-V LDO, 3.3-V LDO and charge pump are set to be 360 μ A, 360 μ A and 100 μ A, respectively. All the subsequent measurements are done under the same loads,





Figure 3.13 (a) Die photo of the power/data recovery module and (b) measurement setup.

System					
Technology	18 µm CMOS				
Area	~ 3.5 mm ²				
Coupling Coils					
External co	9.6 µH				
Internal co	il	2.1 μH			
Coils' distan	ice	5 mm			
Wireless Power Management					
Carrier freque	ency	13.56 MHz			
Outputs	1.8V/3.3V/20V				
Rectifier P	77 %				
LDOs I _{stand}	30 µA*				
Charge pump	82 %				
Total PE	49%				
Bidirectional Data Telemetry					
(forward/backward)					
Mode	Mode				
Data rate	Data rate 6				
Power 1		7 μW/1.2 μW*			

Table 3.2. System parameters

*Simulation results

unless specified otherwise.

The measured performance of the power management part and circuit parameters are summarized in Table 3.2. Power efficiency (PE) of individual block is measured using different optimal loads. The overall PE is calculated with three 100μ A/300 μ A/500 μ A current loads connected with 1.8V/3.3V/20V outputs, respectively. Table 3.3 is the performance comparison with the

Table 3.3. Comparison with previous works

	[42]ISSCC 2013	[49]TBCAS 2011	[51]TBCAS 2011	This work
Process	32 V 0.18µm СМОS	20 V HV CMOS	0.35µm CMOS	24 V 0.18µm CMOS
Area (mm ²)	NA	4/9	1.5 x 1.6	~ 3.5
Frequency (MHz)	2	13.56	0.256	13.56
Power Supply (V)	\pm 12 V, \pm 1.8 V	50 V/20 V **	5.8 V, 2 V, 1.4 V	20 V, 3.3 V, 1.8 V
Power Efficiency (%)	81(HV rectifier)	90(rectifier, sim)	NA	49
DC-DC type	HV/LV rectifier + LDO	HV rectifier + step- down charge pump	LV rectifier + step- up charge pump + LDOs	2-stage LV rectifier + step-up charge pump + LDOs
Forward Data modulation	DPSK	ООК	PSK	ASK
Data Rate (kbps)	2 Mbps @ 20 MHz carrier*	300	~ 60	61.5
Backward data rate	Non	Non	Non	33.3 kbps (LSK)
Closed-loop power control	Non	Non	Non	Yes

* The forward data link uses another antenna.

** The step-down DC-DC is not integrated in the same chip.

similar power management circuits reported previously for biomedical implantable systems.

The total PE denotes this module's peak power recovery efficiency and is calculated with three 100μ A/300 μ A/500 μ A current loads connected with 1.8V/3.3V/20V outputs, respectively. The used equation is

 $PE_{overall} = \frac{effective DC output power}{AC input power}$

$$= PE_{rec} \cdot \left(\frac{LDO \text{ current}}{\text{total current}} \cdot PE_{LDO} + \frac{\text{charge pump current}}{\text{total current}} \cdot PE_{CP}\right)$$
(3)

in which PEoverall, PELDO and PECP are total, LDOs and charge pump PE.

3.3.1 Rectifier Measurement

Fig. 3.14(a) shows the measured waveforms of the resonator tank output and the rectifier inputs. Operation mode I or II is determined by voltage of *VDC2* that should be maintained at an average voltage of 3.7V (3.6~3.8V). If it is less than 3.6 V, the rectifier is switched to mode II. If it is higher than 3.8 V, the rectifier is switched to mode I. In mode I, *RF1*+ and *RS*- have same waveform (out of phase) and same amplitudes. In mode II, *RF1*+ maintains its shape since its connection doesn't change from mode I. However, *RS*amplitude decreases due to different loadings. Fig. 3.14(b) shows *RF1*+ and the two outputs waveforms of the 2nd stage rectifier. It can be clearly seen that *VDC2* is being charged up in mode II.

Fig. 3.15 shows the measured power saving in the proposed 2-stage rectifier as compared to the conventional rectifier. The conventional rectifier is formed by simply connecting VDC2 to *VDC3* off-chip. Since *VDC2/VDC3*



Figure 3.14. Measured waveforms at inputs and outputs of the proposed 2-stage rectifier in different modes: (a) inputs to the rectifier and (b) input (RF1+) and outputs (*VDC2* and *VDC3*) of the rectifier.

voltage now needs to reach at least 4.2V for the charge pump, more DC power is consumed on *VDC2* in the conventional rectifier. The conventional rectifier shows higher wireless power transmission efficiency. However, the proposed rectifier still shows better system overall PE with maximum 4% improvement. In measurement, the load currents are 360µA/800µA for *VDC1/VDC3*,



Figure 3.15. Measurement results of the proposed rectifier: *SYS_NEW* and *SYS_CON* are the overall power efficiencies, from signal generator to the output of the proposed and the conventional rectifier, respectively. *WLT_NEW* and *WLT_CON* are the wireless power transmission efficiencies, from signal generator to secondary coil, for the proposed rectifier and the conventional rectifier respectively.

respectively. Whereas the load current for *VDC2* is changed from 100 μ A to 500 μ A.

The conventional rectifier is formed by simply connecting VDC2 to *VDC3* off-chip. Since *VDC2/VDC3* voltage now needs to reach at least 4.2V for the charge pump, more DC power is consumed on *VDC2* in the conventional rectifier. The saved power on *VDC2* in the proposed rectifier is about 6.5% when *VDC2/VDC3* is 4.8V. Whereas AC power saving is 15%, including the extra DC clamp circuit at *VDC2* in the proposed rectifier. In measurement, the load currents are $120\mu A/200\mu A/80\mu A$ for 1.8V/3.3V/20V, respectively.

3.3.2 Charge Pump Ripple Voltage Reduction

Fig. 3.16 shows the measurement results of the charge pump with and without high-frequency clock for ripple reduction. It can be clearly seen that with the high-frequency clock, the ripples voltage is significantly reduced. As shown in Fig. 3.17(a), the ripple reduction in the proposed 2-clocks charge pump is around 40% when the load current is below 600µA. When the load current further increases, the DC output becomes lower than 20V (Fig.



Figure 3.17. Measurement results of (a) charge pump output ripple and (b) the power efficiency vs load current.

3.17(b)), *CLKL* increases by the PFM control (> 1MHz) and thus the ripple is low and shows no difference between the two cases. As shown in Fig. 3.17(b), the charge pump achieves 82% peak efficiency at 600 μ A load current. The output voltage can not be maintained at 20 V if load current further increases. The proposed 2-clocks scheme has no effect on the power efficiency.

3.3.3 System Function Verification

Fig. 3.18 shows the startup sequence of the power management and power monitor function. Charge pump's start up is controlled by 1.8 V power-on-reset (POR) and *VDC3*. Hence, it is the last one to start working, as shown in Fig. 3.18(a). After the charge pump is started, *VDC1* reaches its highest value. This means that the charge pump absorbs large power during startup to charge the flying and load capacitors. Power monitor is measured when RF signal is modulated with low frequency to produce a varying RF power. Fig. 3.18(b) shows the power monitor states. When *VDC1* < 2.1 V, p<0:1> is "00", it means the received power is not enough or the circuit is starting up. When *VDC1* > 2.1 V, p<0:1> is "10", it means the received power is normal. When *VDC3* > 5 V, p<0:1> changes into "11", which means too much power is received and the clamp circuit is already activated. The closed-loop power control circuit should be activated to reduce the input power.

In forward data link measurement, a signal generator is used to generate power carrier with ASK modulation. Fig. 3.19(a) shows the forward data and clock recovery waveforms. The change of *VDCp* indicates that the rectifier changes from mode I to mode II and then back to mode I. *RF1*+ is not influenced by the sudden rectifier mode change because of the unbalance



Figure 3.18. Measurement results of startup of the power unit and power monitor: (a) Waveforms of the power unit startup and (b) Waveforms of the power monitor measurement.

resonating. The signal on the carrier is successfully recovered by the CDR circuit. Fig. 3.19(b) is the zoomed-in view of Fig. 3.19(a), where it shows that

during the mode change, the ASK modulation on RF1+ is not affected. Fig. 3.19(c) shows that the 13.56-MHz clock is correctly recovered. In measurement, when *VDC3* voltage is below 5V, the rectifier mode transition cause <200 mV voltage change in *RF1*+ envelope. But the CDR won't be affected as long as the voltage change is below 500 mV.

Fig. 3.19(d) shows the backward data link measurement. *DATA_in* is the data feed into LSK modulator and *DATA_rec* is the data recovered by the external data reader. Power monitor's status change is detected and transferred





Figure 3.19. Measurement results of the bidirectional data link: (a) forward data link, *DATA* is the data recovered by CDR. (b) is the zoomed-in view of (a) and (c) is the further zoomed-in view of (b). (d) is backward data link.

to the external module in a data packet (*DATA_in*) through LSK modulator. The bottom trace shows the same data recovered by an external reader circuit. When LSK modulator is active, it will drain some current from the secondary coil. This temporarily causes the voltage to drop and p<0> changes to "0". This status won't be captured since the data sampling frequency is 1 kHz whereas the "0" duration is only 700 µs, and the next sampling is another 300µs later. After data transmission is completed, p<0> goes back to "1" again.

Fig. 3.20 shows measurement of the closed-loop power control function. POW_contr controls supply voltage of external class-E amplifier. $DATA_in$ and $DATA_rec$ are the data fed into LSK modulator and the data recovered by an external data reader. POW_contr is a 1-bit signal that controls the supply voltage of the class-E power amplifier to regulate the power transfer. Initially, VDC3 exceeds 5 V, p<0:1> turns into "11". This information is transferred backward to the external module through coupling coils. The power control is



Figure 3.20. Measurement results of the closed-loop power control.
done through FPGA, which decodes the *DATA_rec* and turns *POW_contr* from high to low. The supply voltage of the class-E amplifier then decreases and reduces the power transferred to the secondary coil. Hence *VDC3* starts decreasing until p < 0:1> becomes "10", which is represented by the second data of *DATA_in* in Fig. 3.20. This new data is fed back to the external module again, completing the closed-loop power control.

Fig. 3.21 shows a stimulator die photo with the proposed power/data recovery module. The integrated chip achieves 20V compliance voltage and maximum 1.24mA stimulation current. Fig. 3.21(b) shows a prototype implantable stimulator device consisting of the proposed stimulator chip, RX coil and off-chip components. The implantable device has been tested in lab environment.

3.3.4 Further discussion

The coils' distance would influence maximum power point transferring. Fig. 3.22 shows simulation results of received power at different coils' distances. Let coils distance be 5 mm. And suppose the equivalent load is point C, when



Figure 3.21. (a) A stimulator die photo with the proposed power/data recovery module and (b) the implantable stimulator device

rectifier is in mode I. When rectifier is in mode II, equivalent load is lower, suppose it is point A. As the rectifier works, the final equivalent load is between point A and point C, likes point B. Point B shift between A and C, according to time ratio of mode I and mode II. When coils' distance changes, the received power varies, but still shows similar curve shape.

Fig. 3.23 shows the HV charge pump in different frequencies, at 10 kHz and 20 kHz. The charge pump output at 20 kHz is larger than the output with 20 kHz clock. However, the charge pump has a higher peak PE at 10 kHz clock. This HV charge pump is used in high output voltage, low load current application. 4 stages structure is adopted in charge pump design. Normally, charge pumps PE locate in 80% ~ 90%. But when 4 stages charge pump are series connected to provide HV output, PE becomes 66% (0.9^4). In this design, much low frequency clock and large flying capacitance are used to ultimately achieve 80% peak PE. Because higher frequency means smaller flying capacitance or larger power switches which deteriorates PE due to power



Figure 3.22. Received wireless power vs. equivalent load.



Figure 3.23. Received wireless power vs. equivalent load.

consumption on parasitic capacitors. Moreover, the charge pump takes 1/2 chip area in this power/data module, higher clock frequency demands much larger power transistors (with same W/L, HV transistors takes 10 ~ 20 times larger area than LV transistors for latch-up protection) which leads over large chip area for charge pump.

<u>CHAPTER 4</u> A HIGH EFFICIENCY ACTIVE RECTIFIER EMPLOYING DUAL COMPARATORS WITH DIGITALLY TUNABLE OFFSET FOR CONDUCTION TIME OPTIMIZATION

This chapter proposes a technique that dynamically compensates the variable circuit delay and comparator offsets to prevent the reverse current. This technique also allows the rectifier to achieve high PE in a wide carrier frequency range and under varying input amplitude. The proposed technique is demonstrated in a fabricated chip for proof-of-concept. In this Chapter, the proposed rectifier and circuit implementation, as well as the measurement results will be presented.

4.1 The Proposed Rectifier with Dynamic Conduction Time Error Compensation

4.1.1 Operating Principle of the Proposed Rectifier

In order to achieve high power efficiency in varying carrier situation, tunable offset voltage comparator is proposed to compensate the conduction time error due to varying circuit delay and comparator offset. As shown in Fig. 4.1(a), the common-gate input comparator has two input transistors, M3 and M4. M4 is formed by an array of the transistors. By connecting different number of transistors to form M4, input offset of the comparator can be tuned.



Figure 4.1. Illustration of tuning the conduction time by adjusting the comparator offset. (a) Offset tunable comparator. (b) Conduction time tuning. (c) Zoom-in view of rise edge tuning. And (d) zoom-in view of fall edge tuning.

A multi-bit offset tuning signal generated from the tuning logic circuit is used to tune the comparator offset. By setting the offset voltage at proper value, the correct drive signal (as shown Fig. 4.1(b)) that turns on/off conduct transistor with maximum conduct time without reverse current can be generated. Fig. 4.1(c) and Fig. 4.1(d) show the detailed conduction time correction process through the tuning of comparator offset. In Fig. 4.1(c), it assumes that there is an initial misalignment of conduction time (transistor is turned on (rise edge) at a wrong time), as indicated. Through the feedback loop, the offset of comparator, CMP_R1, is tuned, so does the turn-on time of the transistor, until the conduction time is aligned correctly. Similar correction process applies to the turn-off signal (fall edge), as shown in Fig. 4.1(d).

To automatically monitor and correct the conduction time error, a feedback control loop is proposed. The AC signal is sampled/hold at the rise/fall edge of the drive signal, respectively. A polarity comparator compares the sampled value with "GND" to determine whether reverse current has occurred (When sampled value higher than "GND", revere current is induced and vice versa). Based on the polarity, offset tuning signal is generated to adjust the comparator offset until the optimum position is reached, as in Fig. 4.1(b).

Furthermore, each comparator in the conventional active rectifier is replaced by two comparators, among which one controls the turn-on of the conduct transistor and the other controls turn-off. A drive signal generator uses the turn-on and turn-off information from the two comparators to generate final drive signal to drive the conduct transistor. Fig. 4.2 shows how the final drive signal is generated. The two edge signals in Fig. 4.2(a) and Fig. 4.2(c) are combined to form the final drive signal (Fig. 4.2(b)) for the conduct transistor. Using the proposed two-comparator technique, the multi-conduction problem can be completely eliminated.

To be able to fine tune the comparator offset and accurately control the conduction time, the offset tuning needs to have fine resolution. In this work, the rise edge and fall edge comparators are designed to have 20 and 24 tuning levels, respectively. In this rectifier, the digital logic control can compensate the edge comparators offset. The offset is actually determined by the polarity

60



Figure 4.2. Illustration of two-comparator working principle (a) Correct rise edge control signal. (b) Final combined drive signal. (c) Correct fall edge control signal.

comparators. The polarity comparators input offset is designed to be around 5 mV and its offset can be changed by off-chip setting. In this design, the rise/fall edge comparators offset voltage tunable range is set to be 300 mV, divided by 20 and 24 levels. The tuning bits actually control offset voltage but not time delay since different amplitude or different frequency carriers mean different time delay. In simulation, less than 10 mV offset voltage influence

PE by $1\sim 2$ %. It should be noted that, when conduct transistor is turned on or off, the bonding wire equivalent series inductance causes oscillating noise on input, which may eventually set the tuning resolution. Thus, further increasing the tuning levels may not gain extra resolution.

4.1.2 The Proposed Rectifier Architecture

Fig. 4.3 shows the block diagram of the proposed rectifier. Two PMOS transistors M1 and M2 are cross-coupled connected, so the rectifier conduction is determined by M3 and M4. COM_R1 and COM_F2 are two common-gate input comparators whose offsets can be tuned in a wide range, and turns on (at rise edge) and off (at fall edge) M3, respectively. DRI_GEN1 is a custom-designed logic unit to combine COM_R1 rising edge and COM_F2 falling edge to generate drive signal for M3. S/H_Rise_Edge1 and S/H_Fall_Edge2 sample and hold V_{AC1} value at the moment when M3 turn on and off. COM_P1 and COM_P2 are two polarity comparators, which compare sampled V_{AC1} to the "GND" and output the polarity, that is, whether V_{AC1} is higher or lower than GND. The outputs of COM_P1 and COM_P2 are fed to T/L1 and T/L2 to generate the offset tuning signal for comparator CMP_R1 and CMP_F2. These circuits form a closed control loop to sense the conduction time error and dynamically correct it by tuning the input offset of the comparators (CMP_R1 and CMP_F2). The circuits on the right side that controls M4 is same as the circuit on the left. Apart from the sampling and holding circuit, the rest of the feedback loop circuits work at a frequency (clk low freq) lower than the carrier, shown as the dotted line blocks in Fig. 4.3. This reduces the overall power consumption. The conduction time



adjustment is also synchronized with this low frequency clock.

Figure 4.3. Block diagram of the rectifier in this paper.

Once the optimum conduction time is reached, the tuning logic will try to widen the conduct time without causing reverse current. This is because when the carrier frequency or amplitude changes, the conduction time may need to be adjusted to maximize the conduction. The widening is only performed in every 512 carrier clock cycles.

In this way, the tuning logic blocks are able to continuously track the optimum status of the rectifier, in case the carrier amplitude or load condition changes. At the same time, the tuning logic needs to prevent the reverse current. The reverse current is checked more frequently at clk_low_freq frequency (clk_carrier/32). More detail information about start-up will be presented in section 4.2.5, tuning logic circuit.

4.2 Circuit Implementation and Simulation Results

4.2.1 Clock Generator and S/H Circuit

Fig. 4.4(a) shows the schematic of the clock generator. Schmitt trigger inverter based clock recovery circuit converts the AC signal into a 50% duty cycle clock. A series of D-FLFPs down convert the clock recovered from the carrier to low frequency clock (clk_low_freq = clk_carrier/32) for the tuning logic and polarity comparators. The clock, clk_low_freq, is further down converted (to clk_low_freq/16) for the for the conduct time widening circuit. The conduction widening circuit is activated in every 512 carrier clock cycles.

Fig. 4.4(b) shows the schematic of the S/H circuit, S/H_Fall_Edge2. The sampling clock *clk1* is same with conduct transistor driver signal. *Clk2* is the complementary and non-overlap signal of *clk1*. When *clk1* turns to "low", the sampled signal is the V_{AC1} as the conduct transistor turns off. The sampled



Figure 4.4. Schematic of (a) clock generator and (b) voltage Sampling/Holding circuit.

value is fed to polarity comparator in "high" phase of clk2 and is compared with "GND". If sampled V_{AC1} is higher than "GND", reverse current occurs. S/H_Rise_Edge2 has the same schematic with S/H_Fall_Edge2, but it samples V_{AC1} as the conduct transistor turns on (when clk1 becomes "high").

Even though the S/H circuit operates at the clock frequency same as the carrier, the feedback loop polarity comparator after the S/H circuit use the low frequency clock, *clk_low_freq*, to reduce the power consumption without the performance deterioration.



Figure 4.5. Schematic of the low frequency edge polarity comparator.

4.2.2 Low Frequency Polarity Comparator

Fig. 4.5 shows schematic of the low frequency polarity comparator. It consists of a pre-amplifier, a dynamic latch and a static latch. A regenerate amplifier is utilized to pre-amplify the voltage difference between V_{AC} and "GND" from S/H circuit. The cross-coupled NMOS transistor pairs in dynamic/static latch push the amplified signal into full swing digital signal. Buffers are inserted between the dynamic latch and the static latch to block the kickback noise from the static latch.

4.2.3 Offset Tunable Rise/Fall Edge Comparator

Fig. 4.6 shows the schematic of the offset tunable rise-edge comparator that generates the turn-on signal. Transistors M_{24} to M_{43} serve as switches which are digitally controlled to turn in or out the transistors from M_4 to M_{23} to form one input transistor, together with M_{44} act as the common-gate input stage. The tunable input transistor (M_4 to M_{23}) the aspect ratio of the transistors are designed from $0.4\mu m/6\mu m$ to $10\mu m/0.35\mu m$, resulting in a linear offset change.



Figure 4.6. Schematic of the rising edge comparator.

If all the transistors are enabled, the total equivalent W/L of M4 to M23 is slightly larger than the aspect ratio of M_{44} (aspect ratio of M_{44} is $12\mu m/0.35\mu m$).

The offset tunable fall-edge comparator is very similar to the rise-edge comparator except the pin "AC" and "GND" connections are interchanged with each other. Note that the fall-edge comparator demands much higher speed than the rise-edge comparator since the comparator has to turn to "1" and back to "0" in the period when V_{ACI} is smaller than "GND", as in Fig. 4.2(c). Thus, the fall-edge comparator consumes more power and needs more tuning levels (24 levels) to get similar resolution as the rise-edge comparator.

4.2.4 Drive Signal Generator

Drive signal generator is a custom-designed logic circuit to generate the final drive signal and control the conduct transistors. Fig. 4.7 shows the schematic and timing diagram of the internal signals from the drive signal generator. Usually, "1" duty of *Fall_edge* is narrower than "1" duty of the



Figure 4.7. (a) Schematic of the drive signal generator. (b) Time sequence of the generator internal signals.

Rise_edge signal. The drive signal is generated by combining *A* and complementary signal of *Rise_edge* through a NOR gate. In this way, the effective rise and fall edges are combined together.

4.2.5 Tuning Logic Circuit

Tuning logic circuits (T/L1-T/L4 in Fig. 4.3) play a very important role in the proposed rectifier. In order to make the rectifier reliable, the tuning logic is designed to detect any possible abnormal status and adjust the rectifier back into normal working condition. Fig. 4.8 shows the flow chart of tuning logic for rise-edge comparator and falling edge comparator, respectively.

When the rectifier starts up, if there are transitions (rise or fall) from the output of the rise-edge and fall-edge comparators, the tuning logic blocks will tune the offset voltages of these edge comparators such that the optimum conduction time can be achieved. Once the optimum conduction time is reached, the tuning logic will try to widen the conduct time without causing



Figure 4.8. Flow charts of the tuning logic unit for edge comparators. (a) Flow chart of the rising edge comparator tuning logic. (b) Flow chart of the falling edge comparator tuning logic.

reverse current. This is because when the carrier frequency or amplitude changes, the conduction time may need to be adjusted to maximize the conduction, as described in Section 4.1.2. The widening is only performed in every 512 carrier clock cycles.

Another scenario is that there could be no rise/fall edge signals at all when the rectifier starts up since the carrier frequency and voltage amplitude are uncertain or have not been stabilized. The tuning logic would treat searching fall edge signal as the first priority. Rise-edge comparator will increase its input offset voltage to guarantee that it has no influence on the fall edge signal during the search searching, as shown by bold line box in Fig. 4.8(a). The falledge comparator will decrease its offset voltage simultaneously. After the falling edge signal appear, the offset tuning logic will search optimum working status by continually tuning offset of comparators. Noted that, offset voltages of the two comparators have opposite polarity (V_{OFS_R} >"GND", V_{OFS_R} <"GND") and their increasing directions are indicated in Fig. 4.2.

4.2.6 Simulation of the Rectifier

Fig. 4.9 shows the simulation waveforms of the rectifier. When rectifier starts up, the initial offset voltage of the comparator is set externally. After stable V_{DC} is established for the circuits in rectifier, tuning logic starts working and automatically tune offset voltages of the edge comparators. The offset tuning status can be seen in Fig. 4.9. A 13.56 MHz, 2 V amplitude sine wave voltage source is used as a carrier in the simulation.

Fig. 4.10 shows the pie chart of the rectifier power consumption. The largest power consumption part is from the edge comparators since they need

70



Figure 4.10. V_{AC} waveforms of the rectifier simulation.

to operate at high speed to for 13.56-MHz carrier. The other circuits, including S/H, polarity comparators and digital edge combining circuit consume around 20% of the total power . The logic tuning blocks consume the least power as they operate at low frequency. The total simulated supply current is 210 μ A at 2 V DC output voltage with 13.56-MHz carrier. The simulation show that the



Figure 4.9. Pie chart of blocks power consumption in simulation.

rectifier functions well at 2V and 13.56-MHz carrier.

4.3 Measurement Results and Discussion

The rectifier was fabricated in a 0.35- μ m CMOS technology and occupied a 0.3 mm² active area. Fig. 4.11 shows the chip microphotograph. In measurement, an Agilent 33250A signal generator is used to drive the rectifier. The load resistor is set manually on PCB, and the load capacitor is 1 μ F in all measurements. In PE measurement, a 10 Ω series connected resistor is inserted between signal generator and the chip to measure the input current.

Fig. 4.12 shows the measurement waveforms with two carrier frequencies. The rectifier works well in the carrier frequency range from 100 kHz to 13.56 MHz. However, it works more stably in lower frequencies than in higher carrier frequencies. This is because the equivalent series inductance in package and bonding wire introduces oscillating noise which may affect the comparator performance in higher carrier frequency.



Figure 4.11. Die photo of the fabricated rectifier.



Figure 4.12. Measurement waveforms of the rectifier. (a) Carrier frequency is 100 kHz. (b) Carrier frequency is 13.56 MHz.

Fig. 4.13(a) shows the rectifier PE versus carrier frequency and comparison with some previous works. The measurements are done with a 500- Ω load resistor and 1- μ F capacitor under 2 V DC output voltage. The previous works only have PE reported at one frequency are not included. The rectifier in this work is able to operate in the widest input frequency range (100 kHz – 13.56 MHz). Generally, all the rectifiers show higher PE performance in lower frequency than in higher frequency, because the conduct transistors turn on

and off more frequently and thus cause high power consumption.

Fig. 4.13(b) shows the PE vs. the output DC voltages at 13.56 MHz. Except the design using dynamic biasing in [68], although the peak PEs of other designs are all above 80%, but in a small DC output voltage range. It should be noted that the rectifier in this work achieves larger than 80% PE not only in a wider carrier frequency range, but also in wide DC output range.

Fig. 4.13(c) shows the rectifier PE versus DC output voltage for different carrier frequencies. PE vs. V_{DC} curves are relative flat, thanks to the tuning algorithm of the rectifier. At higher carrier frequencies, PE drops as V_{DC} voltage increases because the rectifier is optimized at 2 V.

Fig. 4.13(d) shows the rectifier PE versus the resistive load. The PE achieves peak value at a certain point (the resistance is optimized to be 500 ohms) in higher frequency range. Because in higher frequency range, the peak conduct current is larger than in lower frequency with the same resistive load.

Several issues cause the rectifier's lower PE in higher carrier frequency. Firstly, edge comparators and drive signal buffers have higher power consumption in higher frequency. Secondly, bonding wire equivalent inductance and resistance generate larger noise, which affect the performances of both edge comparators and polarity comparators at higher carrier frequency, thus resulting in lower PE. Finally, the rectifier has some digital ancillary circuits to support the operation of the tuning logic block, which consumes more power at higher carrier frequency and V_{DC} , as they operate at carrier frequency.

The performances of the rectifier in this work and the some previous works are summarized in table 4.1. The rectifier in this paper shows a high PE (\geq



Figure 4.13. Measured rectifier PE performance and comparisions. (a) PE vs. carrier frequency. (b) PE vs. output V_{DC} at 13.56 MHz carrier. (c) PE vs. output V_{DC} for different carrier frequencies, (d) PE vs. rectifier resistive load R_{load} .

80%) in the wide DC output range at the carrier frequency \leq 6MHz and the

	JSSCC 2009[61]	TCAS-II 2012[62]	TCAS-I 2011[64]	ISSCC 2012[65]	CICC 2013[67]	TBCAS 2014[68]	This paper
Process	0.35µm СМОS	0.35µm СМОS	0.5µm CMOS	0.5µm CM OS	0.18µm СМОS	0.35µm СМОS	0.35µm CMOS
Area (mm ²)	0.4	0.009	0.18	0.58	0.07	0.186	0.3
Frequency (MHz)	0.2 - 1.5	13.56	13.56	13.56	1-10	10-13.56	100k-13.56M
VAC (V)	2.4	1.5	3.8	3.7	NA	1.5-4	2~5.5
VDC (V)	2.08	1.33	3.12	3.1	2-3	1.19-3.56	1.5-5
$R_{load}\left(\Omega\right)$	100	1 k	500	500	500-1.25k	500-1.8k	500
PE (%)	87 (SIM)	81.9(PEAK)	80.2(PEAK)	77(p)	>80	82.2-90.1	>90@100kHz >85@1MHz 83.4(PEAK)@13.56MHz

Table 4.1 Rectifier characteristics comparison table

widest carrier frequency range (from 100kHz to 13.56MHz) compared to the previously reported designs. It is well suited for the implantable biomedical systems with output power in milliwatts range.

<u>CHAPTER 5</u>

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

5.1 Conclusions

In the thesis, a power/data recovery system for high-compliance-voltage stimulation has been described, in which several techniques to improve power efficiency have been proposed. A full-wave active rectifier with wide carrier frequency range has also been proposed and demonstrated in CMOS technology.

The wireless power management and data telemetry IC for highcompliance-voltage electrical stimulation applications is demonstrated in a 0.18-µm CMOS technology. The chip is powered by 13.56MHz RF carrier and generates 1.8 V, 3.3 V and 20 V supplies. The proposed unbalance resonating L-C tank and the time-division 2-stage rectifier generate three supplies for two LDOs and the charge pump, respectively, to improve the power efficiency. In the 20V charge pump implementation, the 2-clocks technique is proposed and reduces the ripple voltage by 40 % without degrading the charge pump efficiency. Bidirectional data link is successfully verified in the measurement with data rate of 61.5 and 33.3 kbps respectively. Closed-loop power control is also verified based on the power monitor integrated in the chip. The power management and data telemetry module could be used for fully implantable HV compliance nerve/muscle stimulator.

The full-wave active rectifier with digitally controlled offset tuneable comparator has been presented. It is believe that this is the first time the digital logic feedback control is introduced into the active rectifier design. It is previously only implemented in analog domain. The tuning logic controls the offset voltage of comparators to dynamically compensate the conduction time error caused by circuit delays and comparator offsets. Two-comparator topology is proposed to completely eliminate the multi-conduction phenomenon that exists in most previous works. The measurement results have shown that the rectifier achieves at least 80% PE in the DC output voltage range from 2 to 5 V with carrier frequency from 100 kHz to 6 MHz and under a 500 resistive load. At higher frequency range (6 MHz – 13.56 MHz) the rectifier has also achieved larger than 80% peak PE at DC output voltage of 2V. This rectifier is well suited for the implantable biomedical systems that require high-efficiency power management circuit.

5.2 Future Work

In the power/data recovery module design, the 20V output current load capability is 800μ A. Which may be not enough for some applications . In the future version, the 20V charge pump could be further improved to supply much more current with relatively small chip area. In addition, the rectifier in the module is a passive rectifier for its reliability to verify the system function. A multi-stage active rectifier, shares the passive rectifier topology, could be employed to enhance the overall system PE.

In the wide frequency range active rectifier, to reduce chip area, some function blocks, such as tuning logic circuit and polarity comparators, could be reused by the two conduct transistors. This can be achieved by using faster and more complex clock and save two set of data for different sides in D- FLFPs. To further improve PE performance at 13.56 MHz carrier, a raw/simple/low current consume regulator can be used to drive the digital combiner circuits to enhance PE at higher V_{DC} . Advanced technology may be used to improve PE as the speed of comparators and logic circuits can be improved at lower power consumption.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1]The Wikipedia, "Hippocampus," http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Hippocampus.
- [2]M. A. L. Nicolelis, "Actions from Thoughts," *Nature*, vol. 409, pp. 403-407, Jan. 2001.
- [3]J. Wessberg, C. R. Stambaugh and J. D. Kralik, P. D. Beck, M. Laubach, J. K. Chapin, J. Kim, S. J. Biggs, M. A. Srinivasan and M. A. Nicolelis "Real-time prediction of hand trajectory by ensembles of cortical neuronsin primates," *Nature*, vol. 408, pp. 361–365, 2000.
- [4]M. D. Serruya, N. G. Hatsopoulos, L. Paninski, M. R. Fellows, and J. P. Donoghue, "Brain-machine interface: Instant neural control of a movement signal," *Nature*, vol. 416, no. 6877, pp. 141–142, Mar. 2002.
- [5] J. P. Donoghue, "Connecting cortex to machines: recent advances in brain interfaces," *Nature Neuroscience*, pp. 1085 – 1088, 5 2002.
- [6]D. J. McFarland, D. J. Krusienski, W. A. Sarnacki, J. R. Wolpaw, "Emulation of computer mouse control with a noninvasive braincomputer interface," *Journal Neural Engineering*, pp. 101-110, 5 2008.
- [7]I. S. Kotchetkov, B. A., B. Y. Hwang, G. Appelboom, C. P. Kellner and E. S.J. Connolly, "Brain-computer interfaces: military, neurosurgical, and ethical perspective," *Neurosurg Focus*, vol. 28, pp. 1-6, May 2010.
- [8]M. A. L. Nicolelis, "Brain-machine interfaces to restore motor function and probe neural circuits," *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 4, pp. 417-422, May 2003.
- [9]D. A. Schwarz, M. A. Lebedev, T. L. Hanson, D. F. Dimitrov, G. Lehew, J. Meloy, S. Rajangam, V. Subramanian, P. J. Ifft, Z. Li, A. Ramakrishnan, A.

Tate, K. Z. Zhuang and M. A. L. Nicolelis, "Chronic, wireless recordings of large-scale brain activity in freely moving rhesus monkeys," *Nature Methods*, 11, pp. 670-676, Apr. 2014.

- [10]The Atlantic, "Who killed the rechargeable pacemaker?," http://www.theatlantic.com/health/archive/2014/02/who-killed-therechargeable-pacemaker/283365/.
- [11] The fromquarkstoquasars, "Biological pacemaker developed using gene therapy," http://www.fromquarkstoquasars.com/biological-pacemakerdeveloped-gene-therapy/.
- [12]The GRHealth, "Acute Pain Management," http://www.grhealth.org/spine/spine-center-pain-management.
- [13]F. G. Zeng, S. Rebscher, W. V. Harrison, X. Sun and H. Feng, "Cochlear implants: system design, integration and evaluation," *IEEE Review Biomed Engineering*, no. 1, pp. 115-142, Jan. 2008.
- [14]K. Chen, Y. K. Lo, Y. Zhi, J. Weiland and W. Liu, "A system verification platform for high-density epiretinal prostheses," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Circuits and System*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 326-337, Jun. 2013.
- [15]W. Craelius, "The bionic man: restoring mobility," *Science*, vol. 295, pp. 1018-1021, 8 Feb. 2002.
- [16]Y. P. Xu, S. C. Yen, K.A. Ng, X Liu and T. C. Tan, "A bionic neural link for peripheral nerve repair," in 34th International Annual Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine & Biology Society (EMBC), San Diego, USA, Sep. 2012.
- [17]K. A. Ng, X. Liu, J. Zhao, X. Li, S. C. Yen, M. Je, Y. P. Xu and T. C. Tan,"A inductively powered CMOS multichannel bionic neural link for

peripheral nerve function restoration," in 2012 IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuits Conference (A-SSCC) Digest Technique Papers, Nov. 2012, pp.181-184.

- [18]H. Lhermet, C. Condemine, M. Plissonnier, R. Salot, P. Audebert and M. Rosset, "Efficient power management circuit: thermal energy harvesting to above-IC microbattery energy storage," in *IEEE Internal Solid-State Circuits Conference*, 2007, pp. 62-63.
- [19]N. J. Guilar, R. Amirtharajah, P. J. hurst and S. H. Lewis, "An energyaware multiple-input power supply with charge recovery for energy harvesting applications," in *IEEE Internal Solid-State Circuits Conference* 2009, pp. 298-299.
- [20]D. Seo, J. M. Carmena, J. M. Rabaey, E. Alon and M. M. Maharbiz, "Neural dust: an ultrasonic, low power solution for chronic brain-machine interfaces," arXiv:1307.2196
- [21]W. C. Brown, "The history of power transmission by radio waves," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 32, no. 9, pp. 1230-1242, Sep. 1984.
- [22]J. S. Ho, S. Kim and A. S. Y. Poon, "Midfield wireless powering for implantable systems," *Proceedings of IEEE*, vol. 101, no. 6, pp. 1369-1378, Jun. 2013.
- [23]D. B. Harris, P. Alto and Calif., "Radio transmission systems with modulatable passive responder," U. S. Patent 2927321.
- [24]R. M. Richardson and V. Sterling, "Remotely actuated radio frequency powered devices," U. S. Patent 3098971.
- [25]L. R. Crump and S. M. Spring, "Powering electrical devices with energy

abstracted from the atmosphere," U. S. Patent 2813242.

- [26]R. F. Vuilleumier, M. Beach and D. W. Moore, "Bio-instrumentation apparatus," U. S. Patent 3253588.
- [27]V. Karkare, S. Gibson and D. Markovic, "A 75-μW, 16-channel neural spike-sorting processor with unsupervised clusting," in *IEEE Journal of solid-state circuit*, vol. 48, no. 9, pp. 2230-2238, Sep. 2013.
- [28]A. Rothermel, L. Liu, N. P. Aryan, M. Fischer, J. Wuenschmann and A. Harscher," A CMOS chip with active pixel array and specific test feature for subretinal implantation," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuit*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 290-300, Jan. 2009.
- [29]L. H. Jung, P. B. Perston, R. Hessler, T. Lehmann, G. J. Suaning and N. H. Lovell, "A dual band wireless power and FSK data telemetry for biomedical implants," in *IEEE Engineering in Medicine & Biology Society (EMBC)*, Aug. 2007, pp. 6596-6599
- [30]W. Biederman, D. J. Yeager, N. Narevsky, A. C. Koralek, J. M. Carmena,
 E. Alon and J. M. Rabaey, "A fully-integrated, miniaturized 10.5 μW wireless neural sensor," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 960-970, Apr. 2013.
- [31]L. S. Theogarajan, "A low-power fully implantable 15-channel retinal stimulator chip," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuit*, vol. 43, no. 10, pp. 2322-2337, Oct. 2008.
- [32]K. Sooksood, T. Stieglitz and M. Ortmanns, "An active approach for charge balancing in functional electrical stimulation," *IEEE Transactions* on *Biomedical Circuit and Systems*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 162-170, Jun. 2010.
- [33]T. Tokuda, K. Hiyama, S. Sawamura and K. Sasagawa, "CMOS-based

multichip networked flexible retinal stimulator designed for image-based retinal prosthesis," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 56, no. 11, pp. 2577-2585, Nov. 2009.

- [34]R. D. Harrison, R. J. Kier, C. A. Chestek, V. Gilja, P. Nuyujukian, S. Ryu,
 B. Greger, F. Solzbacher and K. V. Shenoy, "Wireless neural recording with single low-power integrated circuit," *IEEE Transactions on Neural System and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 322-329, Aug. 2009.
- [35]B. K. Thurgood, D. J. Warren, N. M. Ledbetter, G. A. Clark and R. R. Harrison, "A wireless integrated circuit for 100-channel charge-balanced neural stimulation," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Circuit and Systems*, vol. 3, no. 6, pp. 405-414, Dec. 2009.
- [36]M. Chae, Wentai Liu, Zhi Yang, T. Chen, J. Kim, M. Sivaprakasam, and M. Yuce, "A 128-channel 6 mW wireless neural recording IC with on-the-fly spike sorting and UWB transmitter," in *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 312-321, Aug. 2009.
- [37]K. F. Chen, Zhi Yang, L. Hoang, J. Weiland, M. Humayun and W. Liu, "An integrated 256-channel epiretinal prosthesis," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 45, no. 9, pp. 1946-1956, Sep. 2010.
- [38]M. Ghovanloo and K. Najafi, "A wireless implantable multichannel microstimulating system-on-a-chip with modular architecture," *IEEE Transactions on Neural System and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 449-457, Sep. 2007.
- [39]C. C. Liang, J. J. Jason, C. L. Chung, C. L. Cheng and C. C Wang, "An

implantable bi-directional wireless transmission system for transcutaneous biological signal recording," *Physiological Measurement*, 26 (2005) pp. 83-97..

- [40]H. Mcdermott, "An advanced multiple channel cochlear implant," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 789-797, Jul. 1989.
- [41]M. Dong, C. Zhang, S. Mai, Z. H. Wang and D. M. Li, "A wideband wireless micro-stimulating ASIC for cochlear implant," in *the 17th International Conf. on Microelectronics*, 2005, pp. 274-278.
- [42]K. Chen, Y. K. Lo and W. Liu, "A 37.6 mm² 1024-channel highcompliance-voltage SoC for epiretinal prostheses," in *IEEE Internal Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest Technique Papers*, Feb. 2013, pp. 294-295.
- [43]E. Noorsal, K. Sooksood, H. Xu, R. Hornig J. Becker and M. Ortmanns,
 "A neural stimulator frontend with high-voltage-compliance and programmable pulse shape for epiretinal implants," *IEEE Transaction Solid-State Circuit*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 244-256, Jan. 2012.
- [44]M. Sawan, Y. Hu and J. Coulombe, "Wirelessly powered and bidirectional data exchanged in smart medical Microsystems," in *Proceedings IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference*, Jun. 2005, pp. 2743-2746.
- [45]Y. Hu, M. Sawan and M. N. Elgrmal, "A power recovery strategy dedicated to implantable applications," *Proceedings of the 2003 10th IEEE International Conference on Electronics, Circuits and Systems* (ICECS'03), 2003, pp. 1212-1215.
- [46]A. M. Sodagar, K. Najafi, K. D. Wise, M. Ghovanloo, "Fully-integrated

CMOS power regulator for telemetry-powered implantable biomedical Microsystems," in *Proc. IEEE CICC*, Sep. 2006, pp. 659-662.

- [47]G. Wang, Wentai Liu, M. Sivaprakasam, M. S. Humayun and J. D. Weiland, "Power supply topologies for biphasic stimulation in inductively powered implants," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Circuits Syst.*, Jun. 2005, pp. 2743-2746.
- [48]G. Wang, W. Liu, M. Sivaprakasam, M. Zhou J. D. Weiland and M. S. Humayun, "A dual band wireless power and data telemetry for retinal prosthesis," *Proceedings of the 28th IEEE EMBS Annual International Conference*, Aug. 2006, pp. 4392-4395.
- [49]F. Mounaim and M. Sawan, "Integrated high-voltage inductive power and data-recovery front end dedicated to implantable devices," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Circuits and Systems*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 283-291, Jun. 2011.
- [50]S. Y. Lee, C. H. Hsieh and C. M. Yang, "Wireless front-end with power management for an implantable cardiac microstimulator," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Circuits and Systems*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 28-38, Feb. 2012.
- [51]S. Y. Lee, M. Y. C. Su, M. C. Liang, J. H. Hong, C. H. Hsien, C. M. Yang, Y. Y. Chen, H. Y. Lai, J. W. Lin and Q. Fang, "A programmable implantable microstimulator SoC with wireless telemetry: application in closed-loop endocardial stimulation for cardiac pacemaker," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Circuits and Systems*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 511-512, Dec. 2011.
- [52]J. M. Zhao, L. Yao, R. F. Xue, P. Li, M. Je and Y. P. Xu, "A wireless power

management and data telemetry circuit module for high-compliancevoltage electrical stimulation applications," in *IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest Technique Papers*, Nov. 2013, pp. 253-256.

- [53]G. Wang, Wentai Liu, M. Sivaprakasam and G. A. Kendir, "Design and analysis of an adaptive transcutaneous power telemetry for biomedical implants," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems, Regular Papers*, vol. 52, no. 10, pp. 2109-2117, Oct. 2005.
- [54]U. Kaiser and W. Steinhagen, "A low-power transponder IC for highperformance identification systems," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 306-310, Mar. 1995.
- [55]D. Friedman, H. Heinrich and D. W. Duan, "A low-power CMOS integrated circuit for field-powered radio frequency identification tags," in *IEEE Internal Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest Technique Papers*, Feb. 1997, pp. 294-295.
- [56]G. J. Suaning and N. H. Lovell, "CMOS neurostimulation ASIC with 100 channels scaleable output, and bidirectional radio-frequency telemetry," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 248-260, Feb. 2001.
- [57]H. Yu and K. Najafi, "Low-power interface circuits for bio-implantable Microsystems," in *IEEE Internal Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest Technique Papers*, Feb.2003, pp. 194-195.
- [58]M. Ghovanloo and K. Najafi, "Fully integrated wideband high-current rectifiers for inductively powered devices," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 39, no. 11, pp. 1976-1984, Nov. 2004.
- [59]T. Lehman and Y. Moghe, "On-chip active power rectifiers for biomedical

applications," in *Proceedings IEEE Internal Symposium Circuits and Systems*, Jun. 2005, pp. 732-735.

- [60]Y. H. Lam, W. H. Ki and C. Y. Tsui, "Integrated low-loss CMOS active rectifier for wirelessly powered devices," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I, Express Brief*, vol. 53, no. 12, pp. 1478-1382, Dec, 2006.
- [61]S. Guo and H. Lee, "An efficiency-enhanced CMOS rectifier with unbalanced-biased comparators for trancutaneous-powered high-current implants," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 1796-1804, Jun. 2009.
- [62]H. K. Cha, W. T. Park and M. Je, "A CMOS rectifier with a cross-coupled latched comparator for wireless power transfer in biomedical applications," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems II, Express Briefs*, vol. 59, no. 7, pp. 409-413, Jul. 2012.
- [63]Y. H. Lam, W. H. Ki and C. Y. Tsui, "Integrated low-loss CMOS active rectifier for wirelessly powered devices," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits* and Systems II, Express Briefs, vol. 53, no. 12, pp. 1378-182, Dec. 2006.
- [64]H. M. Lee and M. Ghovanloo, "An integrated power-efficient active rectifier with offset-controlled high speed comparators for inductively powered applications," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I, Regular Papers*, vol. 58, no. 8, pp. 1749-1760, Aug. 2011.
- [65]H. M. Lee and M. Ghovanloo, "An adaptive reconfigurable active voltage doubler/rectifier for extended-range inductive power transmission," in *IEEE Internal Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest Technique Papers*, Feb. 2012, pp. 286-287.
- [66]H. M. Lee and M. Ghovanloo, "A high frequency active voltage doubler in

standard CMOS using offset-controlled comparators for inductive power transmission," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Circuits and Systems*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 213-224, Jun. 2013.

- [67]Edward K.F. Lee, "An active rectifier/regulator combo circuit for powering biomedical implants," in *Proceedings IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference*, Sep. 2013, pp. 1-4.
- [68]Yan Lu and W. H. Ki, "A 13.56 MHz CMOS active rectifier with switched-offset and compensated biasing for biomedical wireless power transfer systems," *IEEE Transactions Biomedical Circuits and Systems*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 334-344, Jun. 2014.
- [69]F. Mounaim and M. Sawan, "Integrated high-voltage inductive power and data-recovery front end dedicated to implantable devices," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Circuit and Systems*, vol. 5, pp. 283-291, No. 3, Jun. 2011.
- [70]Y. Lu, W. H. Ki and J. Yi, "A 13.56MHz CMOS rectifier with switchedoffset for reversion current control," in *Proceedings Symposium VLSI Circuits Digest Technique papers*, 2011, pp. 246-247.
- [71]M. Ghovanloo and K. Najafi, "A modular 32-site wireless neural stimulation microsystem," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 39, no. 12, pp. 2457-2466, Dec. 2004.
- [72]S. S. Chong and P. K. Chan, "A 0.9-μA quiescent current outputcapacitorless LDO regulator with adaptive power transistor in 65-nm CMOS," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I, Regular Papers*, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 1072-1081, Apr. 2013.
- [73]P. Hazucha, S. T. Moon, G. Schrom, F. Paillet, D. D. Gardner, S.

Rajapandian and T. Karnik, "A linear regulator with fast digital control for biasing integrated DC-DC converters," in *IEEE Internal Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest Technique Papers*, Feb. 2006, pp. 536-537.

- [74]Y. Okuma, K. Ishida, Y. Ryu, X. Zhang, P. H. Chen, K. Watanabe, M. Takamiya and T. Sakurai, "0.5-V input digital LDO with 98.7% current efficiency and 2.7-μA quiescent current in 65nm CMOS," in *Proceedings IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference*, Sep. 2010 IEEE, 2010, pp. 1-4.
- [75]P. Hazucha, S. T. moon. G. schrom, F. Paillet, D. D. Gardner, S. Rajapandian and T. Karnik, "A linear regulator with fast digital control for biasing integrated DC-DC converters," *IEEE Journal of solid-state Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 66-73, Jan, 2007.
- [76]Y. Lu, W. H. Ki and C. P. Yue, "A 0.65ns-response-time 3.01ps FOM fully-integrated low-dropout regulator with full-spectrum power-supplyrejection for wideband communication systems," in *IEEE Internal Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest Technique Papers*, Feb. 2014, pp. 306-307.
- [77]H. P. Le, C. S. Chae, K. C. Lee, S. W. Wang, G. H. Cho and G. H. Cho, "A single-inductor switching DC-DC converter with five outputs and ordered power-distributive control," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 12, pp. 2706-2714, Dec. 2007
- [78]M. H. Huang and K. H. Chen, "Single-inductor multi-output DC-DC converters with high light-load efficiency and minimized cross-regulation for portable devices," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 1099-1111, Apr. 2009.
- [79]D. Kwon and G. A. Rincon-Mora, "Single-inductor-multiple-output switching DC-DC converters," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems II, Express briefs*, vol. 56, no. 8, pp. 614-618, Aug. 2009.
- [80]Y. H. Lee, Y. Y. Yang, S. J. Wang, K. H. Chen, Y. H. Lin, Y. K. Chen and C. C. Huang, "Interleaving energy-conservation mode control in singleinductor dual-output (SIDO) step-down converters with 91% peak efficiency," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 904-915, Apr. 2011.
- [81]Y. H. Lee, T. C. Huang, Y. Y. Yang, W. S. Chou, K. H. Chen, C. C. Huang and Y. H. Lin, "Minimized transient and steady-state cross regulation in 55-nm CMOS single-inductor dual-output (SIDO) step-down DC-DC converter," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, no. 11, pp. 2488-2499, Nov. 2011.
- [82]Y. Zhang and D. Ma, "A fast-response hybrid SIMO power converter with adaptive current compensation and minimized cross-regulation," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, no. 5, pp. 1242-1255, May 2014.
- [83]S. Fan, Z. Xue, H. Lu, Y. Song, H. Li and L. Geng, "Area-efficient onchip DC-DC converter with multiple-output for bio-medical applications," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I, Regular papers*, vol. 61, no. 11, pp. 3298-3308, Nov. 2014.
- [84]Z. Hua and H. Lee, "A reconfigurable dual-output switched-capacitor DC-DC regulator with sub-harmonic adaptive-on-time control fro low-power applications," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 724-736, Mar. 2015.
- [85]E. J. Carlson, K. Strunz and B. P. Otis, "A 20 mV input boost converter

with efficient digital control for thermoelectric energy harvesting," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 741-750, Apr. 2010.

- [86]J. F. Dickson, "On-chip high-voltage generation in MNOS integrated circuits using an improved voltage multiplier technique," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. SC-11, no. 3, pp. 374-378, Jun. 1976.
- [87]Y. Nakagome, H. Tanaka, K. Takeuchi, E. Kume, Y. Watanabe, T. Kaga, Y. Kawamoto, F. Murai, R. Izawa, D. Hisamoto, T. Kisu, T. Nishida, E. Takeda and K. Itoh, "An experimental 1.5-V 64-Mb DRAM," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 465-472, Apr. 1991.
- [88]S. V. Cheong, S. H. Chung and A. Ioinovici, "Development of power electronics converters based on switched-capacitor circuits," in *Proceedings IEEE Internal Symposium Circuits Systems*, Jun. 1992, pp. 1907-1910.
- [89]H. S. H. Chung and W. C. Chow, "Development of switched-capacitorbased DC/DC converter with bi-directional power flow," in *Proceedings IEEE Internal Symposium Circuits Systems*, Jun. 1999, pp. 202-205.
- [90]A. Novo, A. Gerosa, A. Neviani, A. Mozzi and E. Zanoni, "A CMOS 0.8 um programmable Charge Pump for the Output Stage of an Implantable Pacemaker," in 2000 the 3rd International Caracas Conference on Devices, Circuits and Systems, 2000, pp. 34/1-34/5.
- [91]X. W. Zhang and H. Lee, "An efficiency-enhanced auto-reconfigurable 2x/3x SC charge pump for transcutaneous power transmission," in *Proceedings IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference*, Sep. 2009, pp. 311-314.
- [92]J. Cha, T. Song, C. Cho, M. Ahn, C. H. Lee and J. Laskar, "A low-power

CMOS antenna-switch driver using shared-charge recycling charge pump," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Technique*, vol. 58, no. 12, pp. 3626-3633, Dec. 2010.

- [93]M. R. Hoque, T. Ahmad, T. Mcnutt, A. Mantooth and M. M. Mojarradi, "Design technique of an on-chip, high-voltage charge pump in SOI," in *Proceedings IEEE Internal Symposium Circuits and Systems*, Jun. 2005, pp. 133-136.
- [94]M. D. Ker and S. L. Chen, "On-chip high-voltage charge pump circuit in standard CMOS processes with polysilicon diodes," in *IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest Technique Papers*, Nov. 2005, pp. 157-160.
- [95]P. Nadeau and M. Sawan, "A flexible high voltage biphasic currentcontrolled stimulator," in *Proceedings IEEE Biomedical Circuits and Systems Conference*, Nov. 2006, pp. 206-209.
- [96]T. Yamazoe, H. Ishida and Y. Nihongi, "A charge pump that generates positive and negative high voltages with low power-supply voltage and low power consumption for non-volatile memories," in *Proceedings IEEE Internal Symposium Circuits Systems*, Jun. 2009, pp. 988-991.
- [97]S. Ethier and M. Sawan, "Exponential current pulse generation for efficient very high-impedance multisite stimulation," *IEEE Transactions* on *Biomedical Circuits and Systems*, vol. 5, Feb. 2011, pp. 30-38.
- [98]H. Lee and P. K. T. Mok, "An SC voltage doubler with pseudo-continuous output regulation using a three-sage switchable Op-amp," in *IEEE Journal Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 6, pp. 1216-1229. Jun. 2007.
- [99]M. N. Somasundaram, D. Ma, "Low-ripple CMOS switched-capacitor

power converter with closed-loop interleaving regulation," in *Proceedings IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference*, Sep. 2006, pp. 245-248.

- [100]J. Y. Lee, S. E. Kim, S. J. Song, J. K. Kim, S. Kim and H. J. Yoo, "A regulated charge pump with small ripple voltage and fast start-up," in *IEEE Journal Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 425-432. Jun. 2006.
- [101]W. Liu, K. Vichienchom, M. Clements, S. C. Demarco, C. Hughes, E. Mcgucken, M. S. Humayun, D. E. Juan, J. D. Weiland, and R. Greenberg, "A neuro-stimulus chip with telemetry unit for retinal prosthetic device," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 35, no. 10, pp. 1487- 1497, Oct. 2000.
- [102]C. S. A. Gong, M. T. Shiue, K. W. Yao, T. Y. Chen, Y. Chang and C. H. Su, "A truly low-cost high-efficiency ASK demodulator based on selfsampling scheme for bioimplantable applications," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems, Regular Papers*, vol. 55, no. 6, pp. 1464-1477, Jul. 2008.
- [103]M. Ghovanloo and S. Atluri, "An integrated full-wave CMOS rectifier with built-in back telemetry for RFID and implantable biomedical applications," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I, Regular Papers*, vol. 55, no. 10, pp. 3328-3334, Nov. 2008.
- [104]M. Ghovanloo and K. Najafi, "A wideband frequency-shift keying wireless link for inductively powered biomedical implants," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I, Regular Papers*, vol. 51, no. 12, pp. 2374-2383, Dec. 2004.
- [105]M. Yin, D. A. Borton, J. Aceros, W. R. Patterson and A. V. Nurmikko, "A 100 channel hermetically sealed implantable device for chronic wireless

neurosensing applications," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Circuits* and Systems, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 115-128, Apr. 2013.

- [106]S. Lange, H. C. Xu, C. Lang, H. Pless, J. Becker, H. Tiedkte, E. Hennig and M. Ortmanns, "An AC-powered optical receiver consuming 270µW for transcutaneous 2Mb/s data transfer," in *IEEE Internal Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest Technique Papers*, Feb. 2011, pp. 304-305.
- [107]Lihsien Wu, Y. Zhi, E. Basham and W. Liu, "An efficient wireless power link for high voltage retinal implant," in *Proceeding IEEE Biomedical Circuits Systems Conference*, Nov. 2008, pp. 101-104.
- [108]Z. Tang, B. Smith, J. H. Schild and P. H. Peckham, "Data transmission from an implantable biotelemeter by load-shift keying using circuit configuration modulator," *IEEE Transactions Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 42, pp. 524-528, May 1995.
- [109]Maysam Ghovanloo and S. Atluri, "An integrated full-wave CMOS rectifier with built-in back telemetry for RFID and implantable biomedical applications," *IEEE Transactions Circuits and Systems I, Regular Papers*, vol. 55, no. 10, pp. 3328-3334, Apr. 2008.
- [110]Y. K. Ramadass, A. A. Fayed and A. P. Chandrakasan, "A fullyintegrated switched-capacitor step-down DC-DC converter with digital capacitance modulation in 45 nm CMOS," *IEEE Journal Solid-state Circuits*, vol. 45, no. 12, pp. 2557-2565.
- [111]Y. Yuxiang, Y. Koshida and T. Kuroda, "Non-contact 10% efficient 36mW power delivery using on-chip inductor in 0.18-µm CMOS," in *IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest Technique Papers*, Nov. 2007, pp. 115-118.

- [112]Ling Su, D. Ma and A. P. Brokaw, "Design and analysis of monolithic step-down SC power converter with subthreshold DPWM control for selfpowered wireless sensors", *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I, Regular Papers*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 280-290, Jan. 2010.
- [113]V. Ng and S. Sanders, "A 92%-efficiency wide-input-voltage-range switched-capacitor DC-DC converter," in *IEEE Internal Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest Technique Papers*, Feb. 2012, pp. 282-283.
- [114]J. H. Cheong, S. S. Y. Ng, X. Liu, R. F. Xue, H. J. Lim, P. B. Khannur, K. L. Chan, A. A. Lee, K. Kang, L. S. Lim, C. He, P. Singh, W. T. Park and M. Je, "An inductively powered implantable blood flow sensor microsystem for vascular grafts," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 59, no. 9, pp 2466-2475, Jun. 2012.